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Vie have reviewed with a great deal of interest the copy
entitled "A Sewmill History of the Sierra National Forest" which
you sent us on February 18+ This is an excellent historical
record and will become increasingly valuable as time goes on.

It would be & fime thing if all forests could compile such a
i history.
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In 1938 Forest Supervisor M, A, Benediet requested Bert Hurt
of the Sierra Nationsl Forest staff to compile a history of the
sawnille that had operated om the Sierra Forest prior to and since
the date of its creation as & Forest Reserve in 1893, The date
presented herein has been collected by Mr, Hurt during the pest
two years from histories of the country in the Freeme County Library,
the Fresno State College Library, the records of Meripose County
and the early day issues of the Maripose Gazette. Mr. Hurt then
interviewed all the old timers he could find thet had anything to
do with sewmill operations in the ares.

Particuler credit is due for the cooperation received from
Mr, Ed McCardle, John Humphrey, Hermen Peterson, John Sage, William
Barnes, and Max Yancey for the informetion on Pine Ridge mills, To
Bill Ellis, Tom Beasore, Bill Bessore, and Cherley Meyers for the
data on Medera County, mnd to Dave Bertkin, J, J, Castanetto, and
Bert Bruce for the records of Mariposa County,

8ince the first sewmill wes built in Mariposa County in 1852
to date there have been 239 mills in eperation in this area, These
mills heve logged over 185,435 scres and have cut 4,421,633,701
board feet of lumber according to best estimates obtainable,
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Mr. Hurt, who compiled the data presented herein, ies at
present employed as Assistant Forester on the Timber Management
staff of the Sierra Nationsl Forest, He is one of the few re-
maining "0ld Timers™ in the Forest Service who were reeruited
from the renkes of the lumberjecks and grew up with the forests.
We asked him to tell us in his own words the wood's paths he
has followed up end down the Sierrs,

“I was born in Visalia, California om Nay 6, 1077. Ny
parents moved to Fresno Flats, which is now known as Oakhurst,
in 1879 and filed on & 160 acre homestead sbout & half mile
south of town, At that time the town had e population of
about 400, half of them being Chinese, and ss I remember there
were two hotels and four ssloons, My fether worked in the old
Celifornia Mill as an edgerman thru the swmer of 1879 end 1880,
He died in 18C1,

My mother married an ox teamster in 1083 end we moved up
{0 the old Celifornia Kill near Soguel and stayed there until
1868, During this time I mitended the scheol which wes about
& wile south of the mill on the old Sequel road, This wes a
summer school taught by Miss, Begise, & sister of the mill engineer,
As I remember, there were aboui eighteen pupils, all berefoot,
We moved to the Swmith Comstock mill near Pinehurst in Fresno

The season of 1890, when I was thirteer, I started work as
a skid greaser at $1.00 a day and board et Comstock's mill in
Tulare County, The season of 1891 I worked as a skid greaser
at the Woody and Maples mill on Redwood Mountain until the middle
of the summer and I then went to the Miami Mill in Mariposa County
and got a Job as sawdust herder at fifty cents a day, staying
there until the end of the season,

The seeson of 1892 I worked for Smith Comstock as & chute
greaser for thirty dellars a month snd board at Sequeia Lake and
from the spring of 1893 until the fall of 1897 I worked for the
Kings River Lumber Company at Millweod at various jobs, earning
about $35.00 per menth and board, The season of 1898 I went to
Pineridge and tock my first job as a hook tender, earning $50,00
a month, I stayed there the entire season,




The season of 1899 I started work as a locomotive fireman at
Millwood et $40,00 a month and board, Onm this job I started werk
fire under the boiler the rest of the day., On Sundays, I cleaned
out the boiler and firebox, I left this Job in July and went to
work for & man named Lankey who was operating a mill up near
Truckee, In September I returned to the Medera Sugar Pine mill
and got a job as hook tender, I worked as variocus jobs for this
company until 1906, when I became a Caump Superintendent and
worked in that cepeseity until 1914,

In the spring of 1915 I went to work for the Fruit Growers
Supply Company at Hilt in northern California as Camp Superintendent,
A couple of months later I received a better offer from the
Champion Lumber Company in Sumburst, North Carcline as a general
superintendent of mill end woods., I worked for that firm for
three years end then relurped to California fo work for the
Lassen Lumber and Box Company in Susanville, I worked there as
Woods Superintendent from July 1918 until August 1921, The sesson
of 1922 I worked as logging superiniendent for the Santa Cruz
Lumber Company, leaving there on account of astima, In 1923 I
was employed me genersl superinltendent of the Casader Redwood
Company in Somoma County but was also compelled to leave there
because of asthma,

The season of 1924 I went to work for the Sugar Pine Lumber
Company at Centrel Cemp as chopping superintendent and shortly
thereafter I received an sppointment as scaler with the Sierra
National Yorest, I have been coniinucusly cmployed in various
phases of timber nnaagemnat with the U, 8, Forest Service since
then,"
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MARIPOSA COUNTY

l. The first sswmill in Mariposa County was built on the west side of
Mariposa Creek in the town of Mariposa the summer of 1852 by two men named
Humphrey and Geiger. This mill steyed there until the spring of 1883.

It was powered with en overshot water wheel. The saw was forged out by
hend end was an up and down affeir. Logs were put thru the saw on rolls
and were pushed thru by hend and with a crow bar. The mill was called

the Woodpecker end the best it could handle was about 1200 feet per day.
There is no record of the amount cut or the aree logged which wes done with
OXelle

2. The spring of 1853 this mill wes moved to the head of Sherlock Creek
and set up in the WW. of Sece. 33, T. 4, S., R 18 E. The mill remained
there until the fall of 1855.

3. Humphrey and Moze Mock loceted on Bear Creek the winter of 1855 end 56
and built & very good eircular mill which could cut sbout 12,000 feet per
day. The mill stayed st that location until the fall of 1866 when they
moved it to Pine Ridge in Fresuo County. The mill was located in the

Wik of Sees 31, To 4 Se, Re 19 E. and during the life of the operation
about 20,000,000 feet of lumber was cut and about 1,000 ameres were logged
overs Logging was done with oxem end log wagons. The lumber was sold to
the miners and setilers in snd near Mariposa. '

4, EKing snd Harbor built a mill in Saxon Guleh the season of 1852.This
was & men~-powered mill. They dug & pit in order to let the men on the
bottom of the log work. King panned some of the dirt that came out of
the pit and to his surprise it was rich in gold. When he finished he had
taken $600.00 in gold dust. There is no record of the amount of lumber
cut at this mill. The mill was located in the MWy of Seec. 27, T. 4 S.,
R. 18 E.

§. King and Harbor built a second mill on Sherlock Creek the spring of
1853 and this wes taken over by Dexter White.

8. In Janusry 1854, White and Company erected another mill on & branch of
Saxon Creek and according to the informstion aveilsble, these three mills
stayed at these locations until the fall of 1860. The settlement around
these mills was called Millville. Logging wes done with oxen and the lumber
went into the mines snd the building of the town of Maeripose. From what
information cen be gathered, the White and Compenmy mill stood in the EWg

of Sec. 34, T+ 4 S., R+ 18 B. At all three of these mills about 900 acres
were logged with & cut of about 10,000,000 during the eight years they were
loeated in this area.

7. The season of 1861, White & Hateh built & goed sized two saw circular
mill on Delong Creek in the BEF of Sec. 29, T« 5 S., Re 20 E. This was

e stream mill and sccording to the Mariposa Gaszette of Jenuvary 28, 1862, was
opereting day end night. The mill stood at the above location until the
fall of 1879 when the aree was cut out. According to the story, most of the
timber was cut off government lend which was any opne's timber thet could
cut it at thet time., There was & fellow named DeLong living just below the
mill end he claimed 160 acres, so when White & Hatch got to this timber they
started cutting it and asked no questions. Delong told them he wanted pay
for the timber on his claim and the lumber officials told him that he had
no use for the timber and was not in & position te cut it into lumber,




besides it belonged to those that could eut it. Delong took a harrow tooth
and drove it into a tree and a few days later when the tree was cut and
haeuled to the mill, results were the loss of a $600.00 saw, but this did
not stop the firm from cutting. Delong then drove several harrow teeth
into trees and when they reached the mill, White and Hatoh stopped cutting
timber on the Delong claim and the battle was over. During the life of
this operation, approximately 2600 acres were logged with & cut of about
30,000,000 feet. Logging was done with oxen and log wagons. This mill

was on the end of the road to Yosemite Valley for & number of years end
peck trains operated out of there.

8+ De Co Clark built en up and down mill at whet is now Acorn Inn in the
spring of 1854 and cut out in 1869. While he was at this location, the
mill eut sbout 8,000,000 feet and logged off en ares of about 800 acres.
Logging wes done with oxen and two wheel dollies. It is said the lumber
used in the building of the Maripose County Court House came from this
mill. This was & steam driven mill and was located in the §Wj, Sec. 3,
T+ 5 S., B« 18 Ee _

9. A man named Hussy built an up and down mill on whet is now the Ferguson
Rench in 1854. This mill pessed into the hands of Lovejoy and Guard and
was operated by them until the fall of 1869. Logging was done with oxen
and the cut amounted to about 2,600,000 feet with a logged aree of about
160 acres. The mill stood in the NEf of Sece 1, T 5 S., R. 19 E. This

- wes a steam powered mill.

10. D« Ce Clark cut out on Bear Creek. He then bought the Lovejoy and
Guard mill snd moved it te Snow Creek the fall of 1869. He located in the
Stz of Sec. 34, To 4 S., R. 19 E. The mill was operated three years and
then Clark changed it from an up and down mill to a two saw circular mill.
He remsined in this location until the fall of 1883. During the 24 years
the mill stood at this lecation, 335,000,000 feet were cut and an area of
1600 seres wase logged off. One of Clark's brothers was killed st this
mill. About half of the area logged at this setting was badly burned by
the Sweetwater fire the fell of 1924.

1l. Clark moved the mill to fhe Westfall rench the fall of 1893 and set up
in the SE} of Secs 5, T. 5., R. 20 E. He ocut this area out in 1911, having
been in this location 18 years. The cut emounted to 20,000,000 feet and
the area logged was ebout 1500 mcres. At both of these mills, logging was
done with oxen and heavy log wagons. Both mills were powered with steam.

- 12, Clark moved back to Snow Creek the fall and winter of 1211 end 12 end

located about one mile up the ereek from his old location, in the NWi of
Section 34, T. 4 Se; Ee 19 E.

Clark died in 1914 end his son, Fred, operated the mill untilithe
fall of 1916 when he went broke. The mill never ran again. Logging wes
done with oxen and log wagons up until the time Fred Clark took it over.
Fred put in 2 pole chutes and hauled the logs to the mill with horse
teams. At this set up, the mill cut 10,000,000 feect eand logged off an ares
of 500 acres. This area was also burned when the Sweetwater fire came thru
in 1924.




13. John R. Hite, who owned the Hite's cove mine, formed a partnership
with & man named Suyder snd they built a mill in Suyder Gulch in the NE}

of Sece 15, Ts 4 8., R+ 19 E« This was a good two saw circular steam
mill and was built in the spring of 1876 for the purpose of

supplying
mining timber to the Hite's Cove mine. It operated continuously until the
fall of 1898 when it closed down for good. During the life of the operation
the cut amounted to 45,000,000 snd the area logged off smounted to about
1800 seres. Logging in this area was done with oxen and hesavy log wagons.
This was excellent high grade timber and ran heavy to Sugar and Pondeross
pine. DBecause of the Hite's Cove mine, the firm hed rights on the cutting
of povernment timber and up until 1885 large ereas of unpatented lands were
cut over. A great des of this lumber was not suitable for mining timbers
and it was sold to the trade. The summer of 18885 an inspector came out
from Washington D. C. and checked up on the firm. He found that a lot of
timber was being cut off govermment land end the lumber was being sold
illegelly so he scaled the stumps and found thet §$30,000.00 worth of timber
had been cut and sold to the trade. He then asked the firm for & settlement
which Hite refused. Suit was brought against the {irm and Hite hired four
of the best lawyers he could get in Celifornia; G. G. Goucher, W. W. Foot,
e men nemed Hines, and one other proninent lewyer. The trisl wes held in
San Francisco. The lawyers for the prosecution wanted te show Hite's
character te be as bad as they could so they went into the personal records
of his witnesses and proved thet several of them hed been in jail for onme
offense or snother and were therefors not to be trusted. The prosecution
also put & witness on the stand who went by the name of Yankee Jim, who had
lived with Hite's squaw before Hite took up with her. While Yankee Jinm
* wes on the stend he was asked if he wes & squaw men. His enswer was that
he had been, but he was not & squew msn any more. He was then asked where
the squaw was and he told the court that she was Hite's squaw now. The
case was decided in faver of the govermment end Eite had to pay the cost of
the suit an)d the amount sued for as well which tofaled $80,000.00. ( Photo
# 1,2,% 3.

14. Weshburn Bros., built an up and down mill at Wewone the season of
1878. This mill wes powered by an under shot weter wheel. Water being
taken out of the Herced River. This mill operated until the fall of 1883.
Very little of the lumber manufectured reached the outside market. The
Hotel at Coarsegold eand Morg Niekol's house at Fresno Flats were built of
lumber from this mill. Most of the cut went into buildings at Wawona eand
Yosemite. Logging was done with oxen. The cut amounted to 1,000,000 feet
end sbout 40 scres were logged. The mill wes located just south of where
the Wewona store now stands in the SEf of Sec. 34, T. 4 S., R. 21 E.

16, Mr. M¥elone built a two sew circular mill on the head of Owl Creek the
‘season of 1879 in the SEj of Sec. 36, T« 4 S., R« 19 E., and he operatéd
there until the fall of 188)1 when he went broke. The mill was powered with
steem and during the life of the operation about 2,000,000 feet wes cut.
They logzed over an area of about 100 eacres. Only the best trees were cut
end they did not bother with anything but the #1 and 2 logs. The rest of

the trees were left on the ground. Logging wes done with oxen and log
WELONS.



16. Williswe Thurmen bought the Malone mill and wmoved it to Fish Camp and
set it up on the north side of Big Creek in the SWi of Sece 1, Ts 5 S.,

Re 21 E. the spring of 1883. The crew that built the mill were seid to be
good drimking men end whiskey was rether hard to get so they pooled their
money and bought a 50 gallon barrel. When the whiskey arrived, the barrel
wes set on the mill floor and the heed knoeked out and a dipper was hung
on the barrel. It is needless to say that progress was rather slow for
sometime. Logging was done with oxen and horses, the oxen yarding and
loading the logs on log wagons and the horse teams heuling them to the mill.
There was a steep hill just north of the mill snd on top was quite & large
flat. A four pole rumnning chute was built from about 200 feet from the
mill to the flat on top of the ridge. When everything was ready, the woods
crew put e sugar pine log in the chute snd gave it a start. The log went
down the chute like a flash but when it resched the end st the mill, it did
not stop es planned but went thru the nmill end landed in the creek below.
The demsge wes considersble and the chute was never used sgain.

The mill was powered with steam end could cut from 10 to 15 thousand
feet per day. Thurmen operated for 10 years and the mill was idle for
three yearss. The season of 1896 Jack Drisdale of the laders Flume and
Treding Company operated it under contract. During the 1ife of the operation
about 500 acres were logged with a cut of §,500,000 faet. Thurmen narketed
the lumber in the San Joaguin Valley.

17. Crooks and Grant built a 2 sew circuler mill in the SW. of Sec. T, T.
6 8., Re 21 Ba, the spring of 1884 and cut out in 1885. Logging was done
with oxen and log wagons. During the life of the operation the mill cut
3,000,000 feet end logged over an area of about 300 acres.

18, Crookes and Greant then moved to what is now Miami Lodge getting started
in their new location in 1886, They operated at this lecation for four
years when Crooks sold his interest to Grant. Grant died the same year.
The mill passed into the possesion of Ir. Castle end he started operating
in 1891 under contract to the Hadera Flume & Trading Co. the lumber was
hauled from the mill to the flume at Gertrude by team and then shipped to
¥adera. The mill stood on the north side of Miami Creek in the of
Sec. 4, Te 6 8., Ra 21 E., 2nd was the first mill in the Forest to make -
use of & log pond. Up until the time Dr. Castle toock the operation over,
logging was done with oxen snd log wegons. Dr. Castle laterput in chutes
and Dolbeer donkeys and heuled the logs over the chutes with horse teams.
Castle sold the mill snd 8ll of the lend he owned at Miami the season of
1502 to the Maders Suger Pine Co. This firm dismentled the mill and moved
it to Suger Plne using the machinery for repairs to the mill there. During
the life of the operation st this sefting, about 14,000,000 fect were cut
and sn area of TOO aeres was logged overs

After the lladera Sugar Pine Coe. took pmsession of the ares, they
logged about one third of the area over sgaine.

‘lMre Grant was a Florida lawyer and ceame to this county with a lot
of money. He built a toll road from Gertrude to where the iiami road con-
- nects with the Yosemite Highway. IIe also built e hotel at CGrent Springs
gud & toll road which connected with the Weawona, Mariposa road near Wawona
end forced the Yosemite Stege and Transportation Company to run their
stages by his Hotel snd stay all night. He named the mill Miemi after the
eity of liemi, Florida.




19. The season of 1887 the Pine City Lumber Company organized and built

the first band mill in the forest which was located onm the south side of
Hozan ¥ountain in the of Secs 22, T« & 8«; RBa 21 Ba The timber was

owned by three men nemed Chaffey, Rewson, snd Mayo. Two men named Nestleroad
end Skoll sgreed to build the mill and the others were to furmish the timber.
Funds ren low and Hestleroed and Skill got & lawyer nemed Dere and another
man named Kelso interested and the mill wes completed. The mill operated
the seasons of 1888 and 89 when the firm went broke. The cut for the twe
seasons amounted to 7,500,000 feet and the area logged was about 350 acres.
The first season's logging wes done over & eross skid roed, logs being yarded
to the road with a Dolbeer donkey end heuled to the mill over the skid roed
with en ox team. Dorcy Ramsey was the teamster. The second year logs

were hauled to the mill with a teem of horses and & large log wagon. The
Dolbeer donkey yarded and loaded the logs on the truck. This donkey engine
was the first steam logging rig to enter the Forest. There was no sereen
over the stack end the natursl results were fire. There is an area of about
30 acres of brush there today as & monument to the first donkey fire in the
Forest. The firm had trouble in merketing their lumber and the last of it
wes sold in Sen Francisco the year of 1892. (Photo #4)

20, The Mariposa Commereial Mining Company set up & one saw circular
steam mill at the Prinston Mine the season of 1901. The firm bought logs
from small land owners in and around Darrah.

According to Mr. Haguire of the Mariposa Grant, the mill cut 2,000
feet per day the year round snd prectieally all of the cut went into the
mine as timbers. The mill closed down in 1807 with a2 cut of 3,500,000 feet.

2l. Stony Herris owned the SEF of Sec. 15, T« 4 S., R. 19 E, whieh had
congiderable timber. He built & circular mill during the season of 1906 and
operated two years closing down in 1908. During the life of the operation
the mill cut about 1,800,000 feet and logged over the entire 160 scres.

22, Lin Butler built a shingle mill in the NE: of Sec. 16, T. 5 S., R.

20 E., the spring of 1908 and opersted until the fall of 1805. He cut the
timber into bolts in the woods and heuled them teo the mill on & sled with a
spen of horses.

During the two years he operated, the cut eamounted to 76,000 board
feet and he logred over an area of ebout 15 acres. :

23, Will Herris built e 22" ecircular mill on the Herris rench the season
of 1909 in order to make lumber for fencing end buildings on the rench.

The mill operated off and on until the season of 1917. The cut did net
exceed 80,000 fect and the srea logged did not exceed 20 acres. Only the
smaller trees were taken out. The mill was powered with an undershot water
wheel.

24, George. Wilson, and Lowel Stendsrd built a two circuler sew steam mill
in about the center of Sec. 12, Te & Se, Re 20 E., the yesr of 1910.
Logging was done over & two pole chute with horse teams.

The mill cut about 5,000 feet per day and shut down the fall of 1512.
The Standard Brothers were sheke makers but knew very little ebout the lumber
business and because of breakdowns the mill only cut sbout 800,000 while
it stood in this location. They logged off an area of about 30 acres. The
better grades of lumber were sold in the San Joaquin Valley end the lower




grades were made into box stock end sold in San Jose.

The Stendard Erothers owned 1600 acres of excellent timber land end
before going into the lumber business they made shakes on a large scale
meking es many as e million shakes per year. Their timber was not in a
solid block, it being intermingled with the Madera Sugar Pine holdings.
The yeer of 1912 the two orgenizations traded timber in order to block out
the two holdings in solid areas. Standard Brothers taking the timber on
both sides of Footmen Ridge.

256, The Standard Brothers then bought the old Eseru snd Reynolds mill near
Coarsegold end moved it to the Wi of Sec. 14, T+ 5 S., R« 20 E. They salso
moved the mill they had in section 12 and out of the two mills they built &
wery gooditwo saw circuler mill powered with steam. They sterted cutting
in 1914 end operated off and on until 1918 when the mill was lost by fire.
The firm was continually in financial troubles and Mr. Shaw of Raymond took
over the land for debts after the fire.

Logging was done over & two pole chute with horse teams, a small

_ donkey engine yarded the logs to the cute. 3,000,000 feet of lumber was
cut end the area logged was about 100 acres. The lumber was hauled to
Raymond with horse teams and sold to the different retail yards in Fresno,
¥adera, and Merced.

26, Bert Bruce built a one sew ecircular mill in the BEF of Sec. 35, T.
4 5., B« 21 E., the season of 1912, The mill wes powered with an overshot
water wheel. Water was run thru a diteh from Chilnuslna Creeke.

Bruce d4id the first selective logging that wes done in the Sierra
Forest. Only the mature and bug trecs were taken out. Timber was felled
in the openings and an excellent job of log: ing was done. Logs were taken
out of the woods and hauled to the mill with horse and mule teams. This
mill closed in 1925 with a cut of 2,000,000 feet and the area logged over
was about 60 ecres. The entire cut was sold to the Curry Co. of Yosemite
v‘-llq.

27. J. Bruce built the Quignill the season of 1913 and operated it until
the fall of 1914. Greeley end Bob Leke tock the mill over and cut out in
1934. This was a one saw circular stemam mill and only operated when the
locel market justified Buring the life of the operation sbout 2,000,000

feet was cut and en area logzed over of about 50 acres. The mill was
located on the south side of the Merced River in the SW} of Sec. 36, T. 4 S.,
Re 21 E. Logging was done with horse and mule teams.

28. BRussell end Den Worman built a one sew circular mill driven by a Pelton
water wheel the summer of 1919. The water wheel came from the old Mammoth
Mine on the Fresno River near Grub Gulch. The wheel was installed at the
mine in order to generste electricity for lighting the mine. These were the
first electric lights to be used in Mariposa County.

The mill hes been run off end on since it was built and hes cut 1,100,000
feet. Most of the logs have come off the Worman Rench snd sbout 110 acres
heve been eut over. This is the second cutting st this place, Crocks and
Grant havingert it over in the 80%'s. Logging has been done with three and
5 horse teams and hauled to the mill with an old Mack truck. Lumber from
this mill has been sold to farmers in the Ahwahnee Valley. The mill was
rebuilt during the swmmmer of 1938 and is now eutting virgin government timber.




There is about 1,000,000 feet of timber that can come to this mill all
of which belongs to the government.

The mill is located at_ the forks of the Raymond and Mariposa road
on the Worman Ranch in the SE} of Sec. 7, T. 6 S., R. 21 E.

29. A man nemed Ball bought the portable mill owned by the Maders Sugar
Pine Company the spring of 1900 end set it up on the Booth ranch near
Derrsh in the SE} of Sec. 6, T. 5 S., R. 20 E., snd operated for three
years when he cut the area out. 3,000,000 feet of lumber was manufactured
and about 200 scres were logged over. Oxen and log wagons were used in
logging eand the lumber was sold in and near Mariposs. HMill wes run with
steam. '

30. The spring of 1924, Ray Scott bought the nill ocwned by the Comet mine
end set it up on his ranch at Jerseydale which is loeated in the NEi of Sec.
16, T 4 S., Rs 18 E. This is a two saw circuler steam driven mill and has
operated off and on since. Scott sells his lumber loecally and only cuts
what the market will ebsorb. Logs ere yarded with a 60 gas tracteor and
loaded on an old style log wegon which is towed to the mill with the eat.
To date there has been a cut of ebout 2,300,000 feet and the aree logged is
about 235 aeres. There is about 1,700,000 feet of government timber just
north of the mill thet is now under contract for cubtting.

31. Mr. Gambol built a one saw circular mill in the SWZ of Sec. 30, T.

6 8., R. 18 E. in the upper end of Cathay Velley the year of 1929 and cut &
the digger pine off his 800 acre rench. The lumber was used in the building
of barns, graineries and fencing. (The lumber was examined in December
1938 and found in good shape. It did not check and only a very few of the
boards which were in contect with the ground showed any rot. He did use
about 1/3 more nails than is generally used in order to hold the lumber

in place as digser pine warps when exposed to the sun.) The cut smounted
to 75,000 and he covered the entire timbered area on the ranch, about 400
acres. ;

32. Cleude A. Eoush built a one sew circular steam mill on the south side
of the Merced River. This mill stood about one mile east of Wawona in the
SEY of Sec. 86, Ts 4 8., R. 21 E., and was completed the spring of 1930.
The mill operated continuously until the fall of 1933 when the timber was
cut out. Logging was done with horse teams end trucks, the cut amounted
to 1,000,000 fest and the area logged over was about 50 seres. The lumber
waes sold to the Curry Company &nd to the locel trade at Wawona.

33+« Roush then moved this mill to the Crumb place near Tip Top and set it
up in the MWE of Sec. 18, T. § S., R. 20 E., snd got it going the spring
of 1934 and the mill was closed down in 1935. Logging was done with a
Fordson Tractor and two wheeled dollies. The tractor also furnished the
power to run the mill. The out amounted to 250,000 feet and 50 acres were
logged over, all of it being second growth. The ares had first been logged
by White and Hateh in the 70%s. Lumber was sold locally.

34. The Pine Logging Company built & 6 foot bend mill in the WWZ of Seec.

11, T & 8., Re 20 E., the spring of 1932 cutting 21,000,000 feet and logging
over an area of 1200 scres. This was sn electric mill, electricity being
genersted by the use of u large diesel engine. Logging was done with "cats”
and large Mack trucks. A bad fire came in from the outside of the operation
the summer of 1985 and burned about 500 acres of lozged off land. The mill
closed down the fall of 1936 and was moved to Dinkey the spring of 1937 where




it now stends.

35+ Je He Brooks built a one saw ciroculer mill on a branch of Skelton
Creek the spring of 1933. This mill wes locsted in the Wiy of Sec. 28,

Te 4 S8+, R. 18 E« Brooks started his mill by using a gas engine for power
but later installed a2 steam boiler end engine. The mill cut out the fall
of 1937 after making & cut of sbout 2,500,000 and logging over an area of
about 140 acres this timber was all second growth it having been logged
off before by Snyder & Hite in the 80%'s. Logging was done with a tractor
and two wheeled dollies, and the lumber was sold in the Ssn Joaguin Valley.

36. Brooks moved his mill to Leuren Davies ranch where it now stands, the
location being in the SEY of Sece 1, T« 5 S., R. 19 E. He got going in
July 1938 and has cut about 100,000 feet while loggins over an area of

156 acres. He uses & 30 tractor to log with and & two ton truck to get the
logs to the mill. He sometimes uses a span of large horses to yard and
load in the woods. There is about 1,500,000 feet of timber yet to come teo
this mill all of which is low grade pine.

37. The summer of 1934 Sam Harris built a 22" circular sesw mill with &
carriage opening of 18 inches. He used this mill to saw timber and lumber
for & larger mill he built in the winter of 1937 and spring of 1938 on the
same site.

38, This is a double cirenlar mill and is operated with steam. Harris is

a very good mechanic and has built his mill from the ground up. The carriage
edger, and live rolls were designed by himselfs He has a n r of original
ideas incorporated in the mill. The live rolls are so arranged that they
hold the board as it leaves the sew sgeinst a straight edge so the board

goes thru the edzer in the right way. The saws are set by the sawyer thru
the use of & number of smell cebles, pullies, and lévers. The mill will eut
15,000 fect per day end the sawyer and three men are all that are needed to
put the lumber to the yard. (This is en excellently arranged mill).

Logring is done with a "30™ tractor snd the use of & bull tongue
bobgled with & pair of solid tire truck wheels attached to the back end of
the sled. As much as three thousand feet of logs are brought teo the mill
in one load. Loading is done by the use of the old ecross haul method.

The mill cut 75,000 feet the seasons of 1988 & 1939 and during the period
the smell 22 inch saw mill operated, 35,000 feet was cut. Most of the logs
ceme off the Harris Rench burn end was neerly ell fire-killed timber and
about 80 acres were logged over. There is sabout five million feel of
timber that esn be logped to this mill. The mill is loecated in the SI%

of Secs 85. T. & Sey Re 20 E.

39. Leke and Philips built a one saw circular mill powered by ges in the

of Sece 19, Te 5 S., R. 20 B., the spring of 1934 and cut second growth
yellow pine. The area having been logged off before by White & Hetch in the
70's. They only operated the one season when they went broke. The cut
snounted to about 50,000 feet and the area logped over was t.bmt 10 acres.
Logping was done with & small truck and & span of horses.

40. L. W. Alred set up a one saw circular mill on his ranch which is in
the NEL of Sec. 17, Te 5§ 8., R. 19 BE., the season of 1934. He is cutting
the timber off his ranch which is ell second growth yellow pine, it having
been cut off before in the early days by miners in order to get timbers

and wood for the mines. The miners had no mill but split the timber out by
hand.




Logging is done with a pair of horses which snake the logs to the
mill over a dirt roed. Up to the present time sbout 390,000 feet has been
cut and the area logged is about 160 acresz. He has enough timber to last
one season longers

4l. Roy Evans sterted e two sew steam mill on Bear Creek in 1934 and operated
continuously until the fall of 1938. He bought logs from the different

land owners in the neighborhood and has eut about 200,000 feet per year.
Logging was done with a 30 tractor and trueck. The mill has cut sbout 800,000
feet since starting and the area logged is sbout 100 seres, nearly all of
which has been second growth timber, it ha been logged by D. C. Clark

in the 50's. This mill was located in the of Secs 26, Te 4 S+, BRs 18 E.

42. G. A. Carter set up & #2 porteble Americen mill on his rench which is
in the HE: of Sec. 4, T« 5 S., R« 19 E., the season of 1934 and cuts timber
for use on his ranch. The mill is powered with the tractor he uses in

logging. 180,000 feet has been cut mand the area logged is around 40 acres.

43, Apperson and Weston built e one sew cireular mill on Sherlock Creek
in the M of Sec. 33, T. 4 S., R« 18 E., the spring of 1935 and cut out
the summer of 1938. This was a zas powered mill and logging was done with
a tractor and truck. It is said that the cut did not exceed 300,000, all
of which was second growth timber, the ares having been logged the first
time in 1852. The area logged was about 40 acres.

44, The Owl Creek Mill was built by Lewis and Merril the spring of 1936
end is cutting the Blackburn timber. This is a two saw cirouler steam
driven mill. The sews are both 60 'inches in diemeter and the carriage has
a 72 inch opening. Steam is genersted by the use of a large 16 foot
boiler theat was bought from the Haders Sugar Pine Co.

Lumber is hauled as it is sewed from the mill to a short distance
below Bootjack where it is stacked for dryinge. It is distributed from there
to the trede in end around Merced and other Sen Joaguin Valley towms.

To date the mill hes menufactured 5,300,000 feet of lusber and an
area of 290 acres has been logged over. Logging is done with a 60 “ecat"
and & § ton truck. Loeding is done by the use of the cross haul method.
There is enough timber to keep the mill going in its present loeation for
three yeers longer. The location is in the NE} of Sec. 36, T« 4 S., R.
18 E.

45. George J. Shermen built & 52 inch one saw circular Americen mill in
the SE} of Sec. 56, T. 4 S., R. 19 E., the spring of 1937. He operated

that summer and about two months of the 1938 season. The eut for both
semsons emounted to 600,000 feet end the area logged was about 45 acres.
This timber wms all second growth, the area having been logged by the Halame
mill in the early 80's. Logging was done with a 60 "cat™ which sneked to
the mill over & dirt road. The lumber was sold to the Federal Box Company
in Fresno. : _

46. Fisher and Sunyder brought a 52 inch cireular American steam driven
mill over from Sants Cruz the spring of 1938 and set it up in the SW} of
Secs 20, T. & 8., R. 20 E« The timber they ere working in is a pure stend
of ponderose pine all second growth, it having been previously logged in
the 60's by White and Hatch. The mill did not start operating wmtil July.




When the season was over, a cut of 75,000 feet had been made and they had
logged over an aree of 10 acres. Logging wes done with a 30 “eat" which
snaked the logs over dirt roads to the mill.

47. The Comet mine people built & partable mill, the one Ray Scott now
operates, at the mine which was loceted im the NE} of Sec. 15, T. 4 S.,

Re 19 E., the season of 1913 or 1914. The mill cut timber for the mine
end sold & little to the locel trede. It stood in this location until the
spring of 1924 when Scott bought it. The cut esmounted to about 500,000
feet end logging was done with horses,about 50 scres being lagged overs
A11 had been logged before by Hite & Snyder. ,

48. The Mt. Baymond HMine built s portable two saw steam mill at the Mt.

Quartz 3ill the season of 1882 and cut the lumber to build the
mill and cebins for the crew. The mill was located in the SE of Sec. 9,
7. 5 8., Re 22 E., and only cut about 200,000 feet of timber, mostly red
fir. About 10 scres were losged. Oxen doing the work. This mill only
operated during the life of the mine operation which elosed the fall of
1884.

49, The Yosemite Lumber Company built a large band mill at MNerced Falls
the season of 1912 and an incline off the Yosemite & San Jomquin Valley
Railroad at Bl Portal. This incline was about 8000 feet long end in
places carried a grade of 80%. On top of this incline e railroed was
built into the timber. The firm operated over this road from 1812 to the
fall of 1918 when they moved their incline to the west side of the Riveres
During the seven years of the operation, on the east side of the Herced
River, sbout 240,000,000 fect was ct:t 1 WS tnken out of the
313:'3'; forest and the remainder from /ﬁm“@zw ﬁ% Steam
donkeys were used in logging and most of the timber was m&sﬁ d_.i_rm to
the track with the use of high leads. A very destructive job of logging
was done. About 120,000,000 feet of lumber was cut on the Sierra Forest.
About 8000 acres were logzed. The firm is now operating under the neme of
the Yosemite Suger Pine Co.

. 50. Ge As, Carter lessed his mill to & fellow named Branson. He moved the

mill in the spring of 1939 about 1/4 mile west to the NE} of Sec. 4, T. §
S«; R. 19 E. and operated there until August 1940. The cut amounted to
150,000 feet, all of which was pine, about helf sugar pine and the remainder
ponderesa pine. Logs were skidded direct to the mill with & 30 trector.

The mill was powered with the same tractor and there never was more
then two men on the Jjob at one time. They would yard up e lending full
of logs and then saw them up. The lumber was sold locally. About 45
sores have been logged.

51. E. C. Crewshaw built & one ssw circular mill in the NEZ of Sec. 26,
Te 5 Ss, Re 20 B. the f8ll of 1939 and cut 110,000 feet of lumber, all
ponderosa pine. Logging was done with & smell tractor which skidded the
logs direct to the mill. About 25 ecres are logged over.

52. B« G. Blackman set up & shingle mill on the Shew land the summer of
1939. The mill is powered with & gas engine. To date 40,000 shingles have
been made, all of which is sugar pine. He only takes out the best splitting
trees and has worked over about 10 acres. The timber is bolted in the woods
and heuled to the mill by truck. This mill is located in the NE of Sec. 18,
T« 5 8., Re 20 B
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53. Young & son bought the Fisher & Snyder mill the season of 1940 and
moved it about 300 feet west of the originel setting. They got the mill
started in September and cut sbout 100,000 feet all of which was ponderosa
pine. They disecarded the boiler used by Fisher & Snyder and instelled

en upright donkey boiler over a dutch oven, with the idea of burning sawdust.
This plan worked out fine. No trouble was experienced in keeping stesm.

It alse proved cheaper to dispose of the sawdust in this menner than te

burn it in a pit snd is much less hazardous. The mill stends in See. 30,

T 5 Se, R. 20 E. Logging is done with & 30 tractor and a two whecled dolly.
The lumber is sold in the Los Angeles area. 20 acres were logged over during
the season. This is all second growth timber. White & Hatch logged the
sres in the 60's. The cut esmounted to 100,000 feet.

64, Lo Ce & We L. Crow set up & mill in the NE} of Sec. 35, T. 6 S.,

R 19 E in August of 1940. This is a Bell mill with a 56" seolid tooth
cireular saw. The mill is powered by the use of an auto motor and will
cut ebout 3000 feet of lumber per day. To date 30,000 feet has been cut,
all of which is second growth ponderosa pine. This area was logged
originally by White & Hatch between 1861 and 1879.

§6. The fall of 1934 Bob Gibbs, Charles & Sherwood Green orgenized the
Sierra Sugar Pine Co. with an office and yard in Maders. They entered
into a contract with the Forest Service for timber about three miles west
of VWelwons and built & steem driven 6' band mill with a 10" shotgun feed,
trout set works, & simond's log turmer, a 4' -~ 22 gauge bend resaw end a 5'
five sew edger. The mill can cut about 60,000 feet in 10 hours.

The mill wes completed in June 1935 and has operated each season since.
From the start, the firm hes been hard up for money and hes never been
able to make the mill pay. Logging is being done with tractors end trucks.
Lunber is cured at the mill and heuled to Madera and Fresno when dry. They
have & 68 mile haul with the first 8 miles adverse grade. During the six
years, the mill has cut 15,542,701 feet end there remains about 10,000,000
more feet to cut. :

‘The mill is located in the WWi of Sec. 32, T. 4 8., R. 21 B.

Bob Gibbs is the sole owner now snd the last three years he has
leased the mill to M. L. Goodwin.

706 acres have been logged over. ‘

§6. A men named Bradshaw set up & #2 American mill in the SWi of Sec.

8, T+ 5 S«, R. 19 E the season of 1937. He cut lumber for his own use and
during the seasons of '37, '38, and '39 ebout 40,000 feet were menufactured.
Hiram Branson lessed the mill in August 1940 and’cut sbout 50,000 feet of
lumber. Logging was done with & small tractor and a ton end a half truck.
All of this timber is second growth pondeross pine, the area having been
logzed by D. C. Clark in the lste 50's. About 8 acres were logred during
the season. '




MARIPOSA COUNTY MILLS

s

THAIT ; :  Loeetion :Period of: :
No. : Mill Owner :Section-Town-Range: Operstion: Lumber Cut : ieres logged
a :Fremont Grant 3 3 :
[ sHumphrey & Geiger :Town of ¥eriposa :1852 : :
N . Ui 33 - 4 - 18 :1855-1858: $
3 51 - 4 - 19 :1856-1866: 20,000,000 : 1000
4 38 - 4 - 18 :1858 :
5 27 - 4 - :
= 34 - 4 - : : 800
7 29 -5 - 35 50, 000,000 : 2500
il >ler 3 -5 - :1854-1869: 8,000,000 : 800
9 = el - 1854-1869: 2,6008000 : v ;
10_: D. T 34 - 4 - 19 :1869-189%: 53,000,000 : 1600
32 Y s 21 - 5 - 20 :1898-1911: 20,000,000 : :
- -4 19 318 3 3 500
i3 E:l_ yder - & - i_? :11875-1898: : 3 1800
14 : -4-% :1878-1885: 000,000 : _ 80
15 one -4 -19 ) 2,000,000 : 100
Th -5 = 2] = RGS 3 5 D . o
1 ﬁ L§ Grant_ -6 - g : 500
18 -6 -21 : 902: 14,000,000 : yoo
19 : Pine City Co. -5 - 21 :1887-1889: 7,500,000 : 350
¥ine : : 3
Bes. Grant 3 07 : CoO0 @
2 ny -4 - 19 :1906 800,000 : 160
22 -5 - ' ,000 : 15
i 1s —5 - 20 _:1908-1917 000 : 20
T8 Cuantart £ SIS S e —
2% : 5% ) -5 - 4-1918: 3,000,000 : 100
— 26 : Be %"' - 4 - 000 : 60
27 -4 -~ 19141 . 000 : S0
26 -6 - 19-1938 750 1 80
29 : Bal -5 - 3 508 3 200
—30_: Ray Seott i 28 - 4 1938 : 200
31 1 Cathays Velley %0 - 5 : 400
52 : Claud £, Rouse 35 - 4 : 50
85 : Claud 4, Rouse 18 - 5 :1934-1935; 250,000 : 50
B4 _: Pine logginme Co, 11 -5 - 20 :1958-1986: 81,000,000 ¢ 1200
35 7, H, Eﬁ 25 - 4 - 19 :1983-1957: 2,800,000 : 140
S&:I.E.Fg;s 1 -85 - 19 : 1939: 3 1 |
37 8 . 25 - 5 - 20 :1934-1936: 35,000 : 0
—58_: Sam rh;:;:: 25 - 5 - 20 :1927-1938: 75,000 : %ﬁ
_ 59 : lake & Philips 19 - 5 - 20 :1984-1984: 75,000 : 10
_40 : 1L, #, Alred 17 - 5 - 19 : 1984-1938 300,000 : 120
_ 41 _: Hoy Lvems 26 - 4 - 18 :1924-1938: 800,000 : 100
42 : G, A, Carter 4 -5 - 18 ; 50 :
i Apperson & iestom 88 - 4 - 18 :1938-1 800 :
4 : ffwin & lerril g - & - D35-1958: 5,500
45 :5@ J. Sherman -4 - 1
_46_: Tisher & Snyder 20 - 5 -
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MADERA COUNTY

l~a. The first sawmill to be built in Madera County (then Fresno County)
was set up by John Herms in the Wi of Sec. 28, T. 6 S., R. 22 E. on the east
fork of Redwood ereek and sbout & helf mile south of what is now known as
the Board Rench. : "

This was an up and down mill and was powered by the use of an overshot
water wheel. The mill operated the seasons of 1862 and 1863. 4 dam was '
built across the creek in order to hold back the water when the mill was
not operatings With the water impounded during nights, there was enough
weter to keep the mill operating during the day.

‘The mill could cut about 2,000 feet & dey eand during the life of the
operation about 600,000 feet of lumber wes cut. The area logged amounted
to about 40 ecres. The lumber was sold to miners and settlers around
Coarsegold and Fresno Flats. Logs were skidded direct to the mill with a
four yoke oxe team. '

1. The Harms mill passed into the heands of C. P. Converse & Bill Chitister
end was moved to Crane Velley in the SWy of Sec. 18, T. T 8., Re 22 E.,
Jjust below the Falls on Horthfork creek. PFower was developed with an over-
shot weter wheel.

- The mill was built the spring of 1854 and cut out in 1887, cutting
about 1,200,000 feet. Ares logged over was about 200 acres. The lumber was
sold to miners and settlers in the Fresno Flats and Coarsegeld areas.

Chitister also built the County Court House end jail at Millerton and
wes the first man to be locked up in the place. It seems that he had
considerable trouble in getting his pey for the jobs When he did, he put
on & celebration and wound up in the jail. :

2. The winter of 1857 this m»ill was moved to what was known as the dam
in Crane Valley. The site being in the NEF of Sec. 15, To 7 S., Re 22 E.
The mill cut out the fall of 1860. The cut emounted to sbout 1,500,000
feet, area logged over about 200 sceres. Logging was done with oxen and
two wheel dollies at both of these millsy and was only carried on when
there was grass for the cattle to graze on, as they had no hay. '

Barly in the spring 3f 1857, twenty-five ¢hinamen were miring four
miles below Coarsegold on Coarsegold ereek and they were badly in need
of lumber for sluice boxes. The boss Chinamen came to the mill and wanted
to buy lumber. Converse told him he had none and could not get any until
there was feed for the cattle. The Chdnemsn informed Converse he would get
the logs if they would saw them, so early one morning a short time after-
wards, here came the twenty-five Chinemen. They went to work and cut as many
logs as they wanted and then sneked them to the mill by hand, and as fast as
& board was cut, & man would shoulder it and stert for the mines. The next
morning sluice boxes were in operation in the camp fifteen miles away.

The first record of eny shekes being mede was on the Posrd Ranch in
the SEZ of Sec. 21, T« 6 S., R. 22 E. These shakes were made in 1852 by
8teve Reid and & men named Ellis. They cut two large sugar pine trees
about 6' in diameter. They had no saw and did the bolting by chopping in
with an axe and splitting the beolte off with wedges.




The first load of shakes were taken out with an ox team end wa
with no brekes. When they went down hill, the rear wheels were roll

into shoes which were cheined to the wagon bed, ceusing the wheels to
stend still and the shoes acting as & sled. ;

In leading this load, they leveled the wagon with heart shake bolts
in order to build their load straight. When the wagon moved off the bolts,
it turned over end the job had to be done over again. There is no record
of the number of shakes made. :

3. Two brothers named Dunlap and one George HeCulla built en up and down

The Dunlaps ceme here from Missouri because they did not want to
teke sides in the Civil war. This mill operated for two years end wes
then chenged to a single sew circular mill. The area was cut out in 1867.
During the life of the operation sbout 1,500,000 feet was cut. They
logged about 100 scres. Logging wes done with oxen end two-wheeled dollies.
Very little of this lumber reached the San Joaquin Velley as most of it was
sold to miners and settlers in the foothill areas.

4. George Green snd George Sherpton built a circular mill at the mouth of
Mill ereek the spring of 1866. This mill received its power from an
overshot water wheel.

John Besnsore did the leogzing with a four-yoke ox team. The timber

- wms of the finest quality and mostly sugar pine. The mill closec down the

fall of 1870. Host of this lumber was sold to setilers in Crane Valley,
Fresno Flats, and the Coarsegold areas. The cul amounted te 1,800,000
and 60 mores were logged.

it the Green and Sharpton mill there were several families but no
school, so the partners built a school near the upper end of Crane Valley
and when the partnership wes dissolved, everylhing was settled in good
shepe except the ownership of the school. They finmally settled this by
getting a sew and cutting the building in half and each men took his share.

5. George Sharpton moved the Green-Sharpton mill from Mill creek the season
of 1871, snd set it up in the lower end of Crane Valley, in the E{'

of Sece 26, Te 7 8., Re 22 B+ This was & very good mill. Logging was done
with oxen. When the handy logs neer the mill were teken out, e running

. chute wes built from the mill %o nesr Graham Meadow. The distance was

about three~fourths of & mile. It is seid the chute worked very well, and
was the first pole road built in this srea. From an exsmination of the
reproduction coming in sround the meadow, aboul 40 acres were loggeds

One hundred sixty acres were logged around the mill. The operstion closed
down the fall of 1875, with & cut of sbout 3,000,000 feet.

6. Williem Thurmen, Jim Dickenson; and & men nemed Crokeno orgenized the

Celifornie Lumber Co., and built a two-saw eircular steam mill in the

gv3 of Secs 17, Ts 6 S., Re 22 E., the season of 1872. This was the largest
mill thet had been built up teo this time. The firm built a V flume from
the mill to the reilrosd, four miles north of the town of Borden and built
& town there, calling the place ¥aders. They were two years in building

the flume which was 65 miles long. This being the first flume to be built
from the timber to the reilroad in the San Joaguin Valley.




7« The firm failed in 1874 and the Maders Flume & Trading Co., orgenized
end took it over, operating at this location until the fall of 1879. The
mill was then moved sbout & mile up the ereek, the location being in the
NB} of Sece 17, To € Sey Re 22 E. They also extended the flume to the
new site. The mill operated at this site five years. Logging was done
with 4 & 5 yoke ox teams over cross-skid roads, and in & few places they
used the ox teams and hesvy wagons. _
8. The fell of 1884 the mill was moved to the EEX of Sec. 11, T. 6 S.,

Re 22 E., on North Fork Creek. The flume was agein extended to the mill.
The operation wes carried on et this location umtil the fall of 18883.
Logging was done with three-yoke ox teams and twelve animal horse and mule
teams. The oxen yarded and loaded the logs snd the horse and mule teams
heuled them to the mill.

9. The fell of 1888 the mill was moved to the redweods in the NE} of
Sece 9, Te € S+, Re 22 B., end ran &t this location until the fall of 1892,
when it closed down for good.

Donkey engines end two-pole chutes were pu£ to use at this sites

The donkpys yarded the logs to the chute snd eight~eninal teems hauled
them to the mill.

There wes not enough water to flume lumber from where the mill stood
so & strap irom trem wes built from the mill to where it stood from 1380
to 1884 snd the lumber shipped to that point on trem ecars. (Phote # 33).

10. This firm bought a mill from a man nemed Smith Comstock, who had cut
out at the town of Soguel in Senta Cruz county, and set it up in the

of Sece 11, Te 6 8., Re 22 E., the season of 188l. The machinery was
freizhted from Santa Cruz County with ox teams. The mill tock its neme
beceuse of having come from the town of Soguel.

The Company built e nerrow-geuge railroad and bought a 10-ton geared
locomotive sbout 1892. The locomotive was shipped from Duncean Mills on :
Russien River in Sonome County to lMedere and heuled to the mill with teams.
They slso started using donkéys and chutes about the same time.

During the life of these operstions, a little over 12,000 acres were
logged with & cut of about 120,000,000 feet.

The mill closed down the fall of 1895 and never operated again.
(Photos §f 5-6-7 & B.)

11. The season of 1898 the Madera Flume & Treding Co., set up & portable
stesm powered mill on the original site of the California =mill in the

of Sec. 17. T. 8 Ses Bs 22 E.s end cut ebout m,ﬁﬁﬁ feet of lumber which
was used in repairs to the old Neders Flume & Treding Company flume. This
timber was logged from lend cut over by the Cealifornis Lumber Co., in 1872.
About 40 scres were logred, mule tesms doing the hauling.

12. This mill passed into the hands of the Madera Suger Pine Co., when
they bought the old flume company out, snd was the first machinery moved
to Sugar Pine. The mill was first set up in the 8‘:’:’*& of Seces 2, Ta 6 8.,
Be 21 E., just emst of the old Yosemite roed. Enough lumber wes cut to
build the store, office, snd cookhouse at Suger Pine, while ths rosd was
being built from the Yosemite road to the new site at Sugar Pine. When the




road was completed the mill was moved to where the machine shop later stood
at Sugar Pine, and was operated at that location the rest of the season.
Enough timber wes cut to build the Sugar Pine mill, a number of esbins,

and the flume, to where it connected with old flume at Fresno Falls. The
cut at both pleces smounted to 3,000,000 feet and 200 acres were logged
with donkeys and hauled to the mill over two pole chutes with horse teams.

13. The Hadera Sugar Pine Company, bought the Soquel and California mills
also the flume thet terminated in lMadera from the old Madera Flume and
Trading Co., the spring of 1899. These mills were moved from their old
locations at and near Soquel to Lewis Creek in the NW: of Sees 1, T. 6 S.,
Re 21 Be., end named the place Suger Pine. The firm spent the summer of 1899
building a double mill powered with steam. The head rig was a 72" carriage
with a 14" shot gun feed (the largest in the world at that time) snd two
60" cireular saws. They then took the band mill thet was used st the Pine

- City mill and set it up as & pony sew. This mill wes run four years.

The firm then tore it out and built a modern double band mill, which was
burned the fall of 1921. It was rebuilt the winter of 1921 and 1922
bigger and better then ever. They cut out and closed for good the fall

of 1931, having been in the same location for 33 yesrs. Lumber was shipped
to Madera by flume, the leongest in the world.

The first year logging was done with dolbeer donkeys, the logs being
hauled to mill over two-pole chutes with horse & mule teams. The next season
drum donkeys were introduced to log with (the first in California) and
large bull donkbys took the place of teams on the chutes. In later yeers
chutes were given up and logs were yarded direct to the railroad with the
lergest donkeys the firm could buy. From this time on a very destructive
logging job was done.

The firm was careless with fire and allowed large areas to burn,
thereby allowing a lot of this land to grow up in trush fields.

About 62,000 acres were logged with a cut of 1,320,000,000 feet.

Approximstely 15,000 scres of this timber was owned by the govermnment
and wes logged under Forest Service supervision and is left in very good
shape. (Photos # 9 to 26 inclusive).

14. A French syndicate owned the Quartz Mt. mine and built a 60-sgtemp mill
there. In order to get enough water they surveyed a ditch from the mine

to COrene Velley, the distance being 21 miles. The ditch wes never completed.
This outfit built & eircular mill &t the present Bass Lake dam site in

1876, The lumber was to be used in bailding flumes across gulches slong

the diteh between Crene Valley and the mine.

The mine never paid its way and the firm failed about 1880. The
lumber stayed at the mill for several years and wes finally seold in Fresno.
Logging wes done with oxen and the cut amounted to 300,000 feet, 30 acres
being cut overe.




15, Bartram & Brown built & two-saw circular steam mill the spring of
1883, in the SWi of Sec. 3, Ts 8 S., Bs 23 E. This wes the first mill to
be built on Peckimpsh Mt. They elso built a bex factory at Nerth Fork end
sterted to build a flume from the mill te near where South Fork now is.

As soon es they got the flume built over e saddle sbout three fourths of
a mile from the mill, one of the owners of the weter rights to Whiskey
Creek (a2 Mr. Chapen), brought suit ageinst the Company. This suit was
kept in the courts until the firm failed in 1886. This outfit ealled
themselves the North Fork Lumber Co., snd that is how the town of North Fokk
got its neme. Logging was done with ox teams. About 5,000,000 feet was
cut from sn erea of about 200 acres.

16. Charlie Peckinpah with several brothers, started & one-saw eircular
steanm mill the season of 1884 in the NB} of Sec. 4, Te 8 S., R« 23 E.

The first logring was done with four horses and when the horses could net
pull the log, the brothers would hook & repe to the back end of the leg and
help the team out. They later built a good mill and logged with oxen and -
log wegons. The mill closed down in 1896 with a cut of about 10,000,000
feet. 640 acres were logped. (Photos # 27 - 28).

17. Prosser & Watkins took this mill over and moved it to the EWZ of Sec.
1‘&, T. 8 Sas Re ”.E-, the fell of 1896. These P’Wl‘ built a very M
mill the eut going as high as 60,000 feet per day. They also built =
tramwey from the mill to near Cascadel using the mill boiler to furmish
steam in bringing the cars back to the mill. This extra load texed the
boiler so heavy the mill could only sew when the cars were being let down
to Cascadel. Peckinpsh took the mill over the spring of 1898, hauled the
lumber out by way of Ellis HMeadow and down the granite grade. Bill Ellis
did the logzing with 12 animel horse & mule teams, logging off an area of
440 ecres with a ecut of about 11,000,000 feet.

18. Peckinpah moved the mill back to its originel setting in 1902, and
finished cutting the area on which he sterted in 1884. The mill stood
here from 1902 to the fall of 19056. The cut amounted to €,000,000 feet
end mrea logged about 200 acres. '

It is said that Edger Peckinpah end his wife took up two cleaims of
160 acres each. Both cleims joined each other, end in order to live on
both cleims &t the same time, they built their house across the line
between the two claims and proved upon their holdings at the same time.

19. In 1906 this mill was taken over by the Fierce Lumber Co. of Fresno,
and moved to the head of Whiskey Creek in the SWi of Sec. 23, T. 7 S.,

R. 23 E. 320 acres were logged at this site, ecutting about 8,000,000 feet.
Logzing was done with smell donkies over two pole chutes. The lumber was
nmerketed at the Pierce Lumber Co. yard in Fresno.

20. The Company moved the mill in 1914 to the HE} of Sec. 21, T. 7 S.,
Re 285 E., end cut 480 acres which produced about 12,000,000 feet of lumber.
The ares was logged with two-pole chutes end small donkeys.

Cherles Roush had charge of the work dnr.’mg the period the mill
stood here« The mill closed down for good the fall of 1818.




21. Banty & Driver built a circular mill just below where Power House #3
now stands in the NWE of Sec. 12, T. B S., Re 22 E., the spring of 1903.
Driver sold his interest to & man named Mortom. Bill Ellis did the logging
with an 8 horse team. This mill was taken over by the San Joaquin Light
end Power Co., the fall of 1904. The area logged was about 100 acres with
a cut of ebout 1,000,000 feet. Bamty continued running the mill as a
contractor. e

22. Banty moved the mill from Power House #3 to the S of Sec. 15, T. 7
Ses Ra 21 E., near the second location of the Converse mill in 1906, where
he went broke. The Sen Joaguin Light & Power Co., operated the mill efter
this with a ¥r. Batey in charge. The mill closed down in 1912. The area
logged was about 200 acres with a cut of about 2,000,000 feet. FPFart of this
land wes logged the second time, it having been logged by Charley Converse
between 1857 and 1860.

23. The mill wes moved to near Cozy Cove in 1915, Batey hendling the job
for the Power Compeny. The mill stood in the SE} of Sec. 23, T+ 7 S, Re

22 E., W%hile the mill was at this location, it cut timber that was to be
flooded as the water level in the lake was rsised. They cut guite a lot

of oak and cured it by submerging the lumber under water for sometime,

then letting it dry in the sun. The cut et this mill was used for
construction purposes on the power project. About 260 acres were logged with
a ent Gf nesr 3.0&.@ f..tvl

24, John Sage set up & two-saw circular mill the spring of 1903 in the

SE: of Sece 35, T« 7 8., R« 23 E. He operated the mill that season but
could not make & go of ite. The Plerce Lumber Co. then took it over,
finishing the job the fall of 1906 and logging off an area of 320 scres with
a cut of ebout 9,000,000 feet. Logging was done with horse & mule teams

and heavy log wagons. The engine at this mill had been used in Fresno to
generate the first electric lights thet were in the town.

26« Cs W. Booth built a mill in 1891 on the east side of the creek in the
Wi, of Sece 19, T. B S., R. 25 E. The mill stood sbout hslf way between the
present North Fork school and Henry Coleman's place. Power wes secured
from en overshot water wheel. The mill wes not & success and it is seid it
never cut more than 50,000 feet. The area logged was ebout 10 acres.

26. Henry Escru and a Jir. Reynolds built a 6' band mill on Comrsegold
Creek in the spring of 1896. The mill stood sbout one half mile west of
the Lone Cedar Ranch, and near where the Hawking School now standse.
Logging was done with oxen over a cross skid road. This mill operated
three yesrs and logged an arsa of about 500 acres on the north side of
Thornberry Mt. The cut amounted to 3,500,000 feet. It was located in
theﬂ{‘&fm. 54, T« T 8., Rs 21 E.

27. A ¥r. Dresser owned the NE; of Sec. 14, T. 6 S., B. 21 E., the claim
hed considerable timber and the Maders Sugar Pine flume passed just to the
east of the claim. Dresser built a porteble mill the spring of 1802,

cut about 160,000 feet, and lost the mill by fire in August of that year.
This was & one-saw cireular mill driven by steam. The Madera Sugar Pine
Co. bought the lumber end shipped it to lMedera over the flume. 4 four
horse team did the logging. The area covered about 15 acres.




28, DBert Holan started & tray mill on the edge of Haskel Meadow the year
of 1907 and ren it until 1910. lr. Roberts took it over and cut out in
1912. This mill stood in the Wiy of Sec. 14, T 7 S+, R. 23 Es 411 but
forty acres of the timber et this setting wes owned by the government.

In some places only sugsr pine was taken out. The mill eut 2,000,000 feet
and logged over an area of about 300 acres.

This ground was sagein logged by the Suger Pine Lumber Co., in 1827
end 1928. ;

29. Randup & Olson bought the mill and moved it to the Mg of Sec. 22,

Te T Se, Re 23 Ee in the spring of 1813, ocutting out in 1818. This was

all government timber which was sold under U. 8. Porest regulations. Timber
at these two mills was bolted in the woods and hesuled to the mill with 4 &

6 horse tesams. 120 acres were logged with a cut of about 1,000,000 feet.

30. 4Alex Bissett located & shingle and box mill in Nelder Grove which is
in the WE} of Sec. &, T. 6 s., Re 22 Be, the spring of 1916. They cut
down redwood only intc bolts and sawed them into shingles, shakes & box
ghook. The mill closed down the fell of 1917 with a cut of about m,am
board feet. Logging was done with horse tesms end sledse

31. Bissett moved to the Board Ramch the spring of 1918 and operated there
one year. At this setting he cut only the best sugar pine, taking out
150,000 board feet and logging over an ares of about 50 scres. Timber was
bolted in the woods snd hauled to mill on sleds with horse teams. Shingles,
shakes, and box shook were memufactured.

Bissett told me about tapping 2 spring at this site for domestie
purposes. After using the weter for a short time all hands got sick. The
weter was exeained and found to contain arsemic. They then drew their
water from mother spring near by end the erew got well. This mill was
located in the m of Sec. 21, T. 6 S., Ra 22 E.

32. Charley Rouse started a trey mill in the BE: of Secs S, . 8 Su, Re 28 Eo
the spring of 1920, closing down the fall of 1924, logging an area of 240
scres with a cut of about 6,000,000 feet. Timber was bolted in the woods

and hauled to the mill with 4 & 6 horse teams. The cut was sold in the
Fresno aree.

3. Adams & Long built o one-saw circular mill drivern with a pgas engine

on the BeasoreRanch in the Sﬂ% of Sec. 19; T-. 7 B«s R. 22 E. the season
of 1916. They cut timber off the Bersew Ranch but never paid for it. The
mill closed down the fall of 1917 with & cut of about 200,000 feet. The
ares logged was a little over 30 scres which was done with horse teams.

34. Adems & Long moved the mill to about the center of See. 21, T. 7 S.,
Re 22 Be, in 1918. They steyed at this location one year, cutting only the
best trees, logging over sn area of about 50 scres, and sccording to Bill
Beasorsg,cut 260,000 feet.

35. The year of 1919 the mill was moved to near the head of Fine Gold creek
on the Teaford ranch. The locetion being in the MWL of Sec. 33, Te 7 Sy Re
22 E. They built & very good mill pubting in two circular saws and using
stean for power. Adems & Long failed in the fall. Goet Barker got held

of the mill end tried to run it on & cooperative plen but failed. He then
formed & stock company end tried to sell the stock but did not sueceed.

v



Barker dropped out in 1920 and Childers & Krone took it over. Krone
furniched the money and Childers the experience. They bought & dolbeer
donkey and trucks and went into the lumber bugy;ua in a big way, geing
nieely broke the fall of 1924. Krone paid thru the nose to the extent
of sbout $7,000.00. It is said the cut was sbout 3,500,000 feet, the
area logyed about 360 meres. : :

36. Goat Barker built and operated a mill at Greham Meadow in the lﬁ‘

of Secs 24, Te 7 8., Re 22 B+ in the season of 1922 & 1923. This wes &
two-saw cireular steam mill. Logging was done by the Sugar Pine Lumber Co.
with 2 gas engine. Bill Fox was in charge. The cut amounted to 800,000
feet and was used in the construction of Central Camp, the area logged 40
acres. According to the story, Barker got in debt et Blair's store in
Friant about $1,800.00 when he wes conneocted with the Childer's mill and
thru Bleir's friendship with E. H. Cox & Joe Lewis, Barker was given this
contract. Blair collected his money.

37. Jim Hogue and Silas Robb set up an Ameriean portable mill on the Hogue
ranch the season of 1930. The mill stood in the SE} of Sec. 8, T. 8 S.,

E. 24 E., snd was built in order to meke boxes which were needed in
connection with the Hogue orcherd. They also needed lumber for fencing

end building. The mill was powered by an overshot water wheel. They
operated oi'f and on for two years. It is seid the out did not exceed

75,000 feet and the area logged mbout 15 scres. Horses were used in logging.

38. Fred Spenhoff bought the Hogue mill in 1932 for $25.00 snd took a Mr.
Baugh in as pertner. They used the motor out of en sbandoned truck, then
went to where the California mill stood in 1888 and picked up an old
discarded Spalding solid teoth saw, with this eguipment they built what is
said to be the chespest mill in the Forest, but it was not much of & success
and was finally torm down in 19356. The four years the mill was there, it
did not ecut more then 200,000 feet, mocst of which wes insect~killed timber.

39. Spenhoff set up another mill on the Reid ranch in the HEL of Sec. 20,
Te 7 8e, Re 22 E., the winter of 19356 and '36, cutting 250,000 feet, neerly
all bug timber.

40. The spring of 1936 he moved the mill to the lMcKenzie ranch, in the
SW; of Sece 31, T« 6 S., R 22 E., where it now stends. They have cut about

1,260,000 feet at this site snd logging was done at all three of these

mills with trucks end trectors. 235 acres are logged. Joe Stoddard & son
have taken this mill over.

41, Mr. Mudge built a smell eircular mill on the SW} of Sec. 36, T. 7 S.,
R. 21 E., the sesson of 1928. He got power by Jjecking the rear wheel of
2 truck off the ground and attaching a belt from the truck wheel to the mill.

He cut lumber for his own use end logged with horses and a trucke.
His ocut did not smount to over 25,000 feet, the area logred sbout § seres.

42. Charles West set up & 52" one-saw circular mill on the old McLeod

ranch nesr Oakhurst in the NEj of Sec. 14, T. 7 8., R. 21 E., the season of
1935. This was powered with & gas engine. He operated 20 months ané sold

to Hubbard Bros., they in turn sold to Joe Stodderd. The mill cut about
200,000 feet. Most of the logs were bought from ranchers in the neighborhood.
Estimated area cut over about 30 acres all low-grade yellow pine. The mill




is now being torn down and moved to the licKenzie ranch.

43. The Suger Pine Lumber Co., wes organized in 1921. The firm sterted
construction of a large mill six miles north of Fresno the same yeer.

Contracts were signed with the govermment for & lerge tract of
timbers The White & Friant timber wes also contracted to them. Several
other smaller tracts wcre also sold to the lumber company, in all sbout
2’m’m’m feet.

The mill, reilroad, and €entral Camp wes finished the spring of 1928
snd logring started in June of that year. All logging equipment was
electric and it developed more speed and power than any logging equipment
in existence at that time. The railroed from the mill to Central Cemp was
66 miles long. The road from Central Camp to the timber was constantly
being moved in order to keep in new timber. This was a standard gauge
road. The main line had a meximum curveture of 20 degrees and branch lines
with & maximum of 25 degrees. Gredes were up to 4% on the main line and as
much &s T% on logring spurs. All locomotives in the woods were ssddle
tank rod engines, 120 to 165 tons. From Bass Lake to Pinedale lerge rod
engines of the type used on the Southern Pecific were used.

The mill, box feetory, logging equipment, and reilroad cost around
$10,000,000.00. The firm did not opermte long until it was realized they
would heve to have a mighty good merket in order to get their money back
and a slim chance of ever showing & profit. From the spring of 1927 to
the fall of 1931 when they went bankrupt, most of the timber cut came off
government lend. About this time, the firm decided to selectively log
the remaining petented timber, the results were that a very nice job of
logeing wes secured, both on patented land es well as government land.
About 800,000,000 feet were cut, of which 303,000,000 feet wes Forest
Service timber. The ares logged was about 25,000 acres. After closing
down in the fall of 1931, the firm went into & receivership. The mill stood
idle for two years end was then sold, & plece at a time, for what it would
bring. Reilroads and logring eguipment went the seme way.

Today all thet remains sre a few femily buildings et Central Cemp,
two large dormitories, and & great deel of logged off land. The old office
building is a grocery store. The family buildings have been bought for
summer homes.

The key railroads have been turned into forest fire roads and 12,000
scres of the patented cut~over land hes been acquired by the government.

There is & large cotton compress at Pinedale and most of the
buildings have been torn down end moved away. (Photos 29 - 30).

44, The Suger Pine Lumber Co. bought an 8' band mill from the Sen Jomguin
Light & Power Co., end set it up on White snd Frienmt land in the SE: of
Secs 4, Te B 8., R 23 E., the summer of 1932 and operated it that fall.
Byles & Jamison took it over end ren it in 1933, cutting out eerly in 1934
and logging 120 acres with a cut of 3,000,000 feet. Logring was done the
firet two seasons with a gas donkey end the last season with 9' wheels &
"ecats". They moved the mill to Pine Ridge the summer of 1934 end started
cutting Edison timber nesr Shaver “ake.




45. Dupzyk Bros., built & one-saw circular mill on their ranch the spring
of 1934, logcing with "eats™ and trucks. They logged off their ranch and
some govermment timber. The lumber has mostly been sold around Bess Lake.
The mill stayed on the ranch until the fall of 1937, cutting about 1,000,000
feet. Aree logged about 150 asecres all low-grade yellow pine.

46. The mill was then moved to the NE} of Sec. 7, T« 7 Su, Rs 22 E., &nd
cut out the season of 1938. Area logged about 60 acresz with a cut of 350,000
feet, all yellow pine.

47. Duncan Bres., built & mill in the MW} of Sece 7, Te 7 Ses He 21 E.,
the spring of 1934. This was a very good little mill and could cut as
much as 15,000 per day. They were continually in finaneisl troubles and
shut down after cutting e little over 100,000 feet and logring en ares of
sbout 15 seres. (Photof 31)

48. They then moved the mill to the WW: of Sec. 18, T« 6 S., R. 20 E.
They set it up there but never got started. Joe Williams tock it over the
fell of 1936 and ran it that winter, shutting down in May of 1936. Ee
started up again the frll of 1937 and closed down about the first of June
1938 with & cut of about 1,500,000 feet. Logging was done with trucks end
tractors. This mill is now in storage in Fresno. 100 acres were logged.
(Photo {32). :

49, The Pi Lo Allen mill was erected the spring of 1934 by a Russisn

and & Pole with names too difiicult to remember. These men operated all
of that season but were always in financial troubles. P. L. Allen took
it over in 1936 for debt and has operated it off and on since, by farming
it out %o gippo contractors. Logging is done with a "cat", skidding the
logs to the mill on the ground. There has been & cut of sbout 600,000
fm. area 10&&“ 100 seres. Location of mill - M’ Sec. 1‘, . & 8., Re
21 B.

50. The winter of 1936 and '37, Harry Allen set up & one-saw circuler mill
end tore down the Maders Sugar Pine Co. mill frame, cutting it into boards
end 2 x 4's. This lumber was sold in Fresno.

61. Dupzyk Bros. moved their mill from Seecs 7, R. 22 E. t¢ the Larson
ranch on Lewis Creek in Jenuary of 193%9. The mill has operated continuously
sinece and has cut 900,000 feet, all of which is pondeross pine. The mill

is the same as it was at the other locations, but they are using a 60
trector instead of steam for power.

Logring is done with the use of a 60 "cat” and a 25 ton truck. To
date about 120 mcres have been logged. The mill is located in the SE}
of Sec. 35. T. & 8., | : u Ba v

§2. The Brown Lumber Co. built & double cireulsr mill in the W} of Sec.
36, T. 6 S., B. 21 E. the summer of 1939. The mill is equipped with & three
sew edger and is powered with a gas engine. Logs are drawn from the Bissett
ranch and are hauled about three miles by truck. Yarding and loading is
being done with & small tractor. To date about 26,000 feet has been cut,
all of which is ponderosa pine. This mill is the old Harry Allen mill

that stood at Home Creek at Buntington Lake in the early 20's.

300,000 feet of lumber has been cut and sbout 80 acres logged.




§3. Cumningham built a Bell mill on his ranch in the SWi of Sec. 11, T. 8 S.,
R. 22 E. in Jenuary of 1939 and has cut timber off his place since. To
date he has cut about 50,000 feet, all second growth ponderosa pine and has
logged over an erea of sabout 20 acres. This ground was logged first in
the 60's by the Dunlap Bros.

Logring is done with a dead axe wagon and & spen of horses. He does
the loading with the cross haul method.

54. Frenk Bryent built e one saw circular mill on the old Osecar Fuller
plece in the NES of Sec. 19, T. 8 S., R. 23 E. and cut about 25,000 feet
of ponderose pine. Logging wes done with & 60 "cat™ which snsked the logs
direct to the mill. ; : ' i

55. Bryant moved his mill to the SEf of Sec. 33, T. 7 8., Re 21 E. in
July of 1939 and has cut about 30,000 feet to date. Logging is done with
a 60 tractor eand & 5 ton truck. To date about 80 seres have been logged
over, all second growth timber. The original stend having been cut by the
miners in the early deys. : : : :

56. Hubbard Bros. are building e double cireular mill on the Fresno River
on the Murray land. The mill is located in the SEF of Sec. 8, T. 7 S., R«
2l B. This mill will be powered with steam and Hubberd Bros. tell us that
it will ent 15,000 feet per day.

657. The spring of 1940 R. G. Chism built s two saw circuler Mwaﬂd
mill on the Alpine Trading Co. lend near Cascadel. He cut the timber on
the MW: of the NE} of Sec. 22, T. 8 S., R. 25 E. The Alpine Trading Co.
made 2 deal with the Forest Service to mark the timber, supervise the
logeing, do the scaling, and to see that the brush was piled secording to
government regulations. The plan worked out very well and a good job was
accomplished. Logging was done with & small tractor and about 50,000
feet of the larger logs were sold to the Brown Lumber Co. These logs were
hauled about 23 miles to the above-mentioned mill.

The aresa cut was nboizt 250,000 feet of lumber, all of which wes
yellow pine.

: Chism moved the mill at the close of the season to the Thornburg
Ranch and is setting it up there with the view of buying timber from
small land owners and the government.

The lumber from this mill was sold to the trade in and near Fresno.

58. Frank Brysnt moved his mill from near Coarsegold back to his ranch

at North Fork during the month of July 1940 eand set up on Section 19,

T. 8 Se, Rs 238 E. in August of 1940. Logging wes done with a small tractoer
and at the close of the season about 100,000 feet was cute The timber is
being purchased from small land owners near the mill. The lumber is
disposed of in and around Fresno. About 50 aeres have been logged at this
site.

59. The season of 1940 Field & Whittle rigged up a smaell Bell Mill with a
32" circuler sew, powered with & small gas engine. They cut about 20,000
feet of timber from small logs, none of which were over 16" in diameter.
Most of the timber cut went into a log house at Fish Camp. The logs were
sewed on three sides end then tongue and grooved end sized to a 6" diameter,
the round side of the logs placed on the outside of the building.




Ihoy had & lot of trouble with the mill because of not enough power
and when enough logs were gotten out to finish the house, the mill eleuwl
down. About § acres were logged over. Logging was done with a Fordson
tractor and were snaked direct to the mill.

The mill stood in See. 31, Te & S., R. 22 E. and was sbout & half mile
NE of the Stoddard mill.

60. The fall of 1940 John Buckhout Built a one~saw circulsr mill on his rench
which is located in the SB} of Sec. 14, Ts 8 S., R. 25 E. The mill is
powered with steam, generated by the use of a locomotive type boiler. Ais

yet no lumber has been cut. He expects to log the timber thet stands on

his ranch by using & farm trector and two wheeled dollies.

61, Hank Childers built a 54" single saw circular mill, powered with
electriecity at Pinedale the spring of 1940. He bought logs from the

Pensacola Co. and the Forest Service. These logs were hauled from the woods
to the mill by truck, the distance is a little over 60 miles. Logring snd
losding is done with a home made stiff boom orane mounted on a truck, which
works very well. Average loads are sbout 2,500 feet. lNost of the timber,

to dete has been white fir, the rest wes sugar & ponderosa pine. During the
season, ebout 300,000 feet was cut. Lumber was sold to the trade in and around
the City of Fram About 30 acres were logged over.

62. Fred spenhaff built a single sew circular mill on his land thieh is
located in the NEL of Secs 2, Te 8 8o, Re 22 E. the winterof 19359 and 1940.
The mill is powered with gas and was leased to Bill Nelson. Nelson
operated the mill the season of 1940, meking a cut of 150,000 feet and
logrzed over an aresa of about 30 seres. The lumber was sold to the trade
in end near Fresno.

63« Re. Go Ghimuﬂlhtthoamedto&outh?utnnﬁhhmgmﬁp
there. It is located in the SEf of Sec. 18, T. 8 S., R« 23 B.

64. L. ¥, James built a one saw cireular mill on his rmah?nilu
west of Fresno the season of 1839, He buys logs from the Forest Service
and renchers near Oakhurst and hauls® them by truck teo his mill, & distance

" of about 60 miles. The lumber is s0ld to ranchers in the neighborhood.

To date mbout 100,000 feet has been cut, most of which is insect-killed
timber. Yo estimate of acres logged.




M1l : : Location :Period of : : Aeres
No : tor : : Iamber Cut @ logged
. L __:C,P.Converse & Chitister : - 22 ;1,200,000 : 200
2 :C,P.Converse & Chitister  :} 7 - 22 :1,500,000 :__ 200
S :Dunlap & McCulle 1 S - 8 1867 :1,500,000 s 100
. :Gnutghaggton :} 6 - 22 1870 :1,800,000 2
5 :George Sha n s} 7 - 22 t : 3,000,000 : 200
6 _:Calif.Mill-Calif. Lumber Co :! 6 - 22 : : :
& :Cal.¥ill.Co.Madera Flume & : s : :
. s Trading Co. NEZ 17 -6 - 22 :1879-1884 : 2
iCelifornia ¥ill - Madera : s : :
8 : Flume®Trading Co. B 11 -6 - 22 :11884-1888 : g
: California Mill - Madera :“i s : $
9 __: Flume Trading Co. tNEg 9 -6 - 2 :1888-1892 : :
~ . : Soquel Mill : o : : :
10 :Madera Flume®Treding Co. :g:;_g_ -6 - 22 :1881-1895 :120,000,000  :12,000
11 :Maders Flume & Trading Co. : 17 - 6 - 22 :1898-1898 : 300,000 : 40
12 :Maderas Sugar Pine Co. Sz 2 -6 - 21 11899~ : 5,000,000 : 200
-3 ® ” (Wi 1 -6 -~ 21 : -1931 1,320,000, 162,000
— 1 z Mt, Mine :Suz 25 -7 - 22 :1878-1880 : 300000 : 30
. B rem & Browa Sz 3 -8 - 28 : ) _: 200
16 :Peckinpah NE: 4 -8 - 23 : 10,000,000 : 640
.17 :Prosser & Watkins :MEz 14 -8 - 23 3 0 : 440
__18 :Peckinpal By 4 -8 - 2% : | 1300
19 V:Pierce lumber Co, iSHE 25 - 9 - 23 :1906-1918 : 8,000,000 : _ 320
B » . :NEZ 21 -7 -25 :1914-1919 : 12,000,000 : 480
2] :Benty & Driver Wiz 12 - 8- 28 :im""-“i‘m""‘"‘:"‘"’"‘z,m"' 3,000 & 100
28 :5,J.L. & F. Co, :SWg 15 -9 - 23 11906-1912 : 2,000,000 : 200
. " » :6EZ 235 -7 -28 :1915-1917 : 3,000,000 : 250
24 :John Sage :SEx S5 -7 - 28 :1903-1906 : 9,000,000 : 320
25 : C. W, Booth NWe 19 -8 - 23 :1861-1891 : 50,000 : 10
26 :Escru & Reynmolds :NE: 34 -7 - 21 :1896-1898 : 5,500,000 : _ 500
27 :Mr, Dresse (NES 14 -6 - 21 :1902-1908 : 150,000 : 15
28 :Bort Nolam :NW= 14 - 7 - 23 :1907-1912 : 2,000,000 : 300
'!3'"'2'%_' & Olson NW: 28 -9 - 23 :1915-1916 : 1,000,000 : _ 120 _
30 :Alex Bissett :NE: 6 -6 - 22 :1916-1917 : socn.% $ 50
N > - :SE: 21 -6 - 22 : Emﬁ : ;ﬁ' )s $ 50
32 _: Chas, Rouse :RE: 3 -8 - 23 :1920-1924 : 6,000,000 : 240
33 : Adams & long :SHE 19 - 7 - 22 ::1916-1917 : 200,000 : 50
4 : * ¥ Center 21 - 7 - 22 :1917-1918 : 250,000 : 80
35 :Childers & :Nig_ 38 - 7 - 22 :1919-1924 : 8,500,000 : 850
36 :Goat Barker iNES 24 - 7 - 83 11922-1925 : 8005000 : 40
57 :Jim Hogue & Hob : 8-8-24 :Tﬁm_‘ﬁ— 2000 :
38 :Fred Spenhoff g 21 -7 - 22 :1932-1935 : 200,000 :Bug Tim-
__P4_:¥red Spemhoff :NEE 20 - 7 - 28 :1985-1936 : 250,000 : -
:Fred Spenhoff leased to 3 s : :
40 : Joe Stoddard : -6 - 28 : 750 :
41 : Mr. Mudge $ -7 -21 3 :
42 : Ches West : -7 - 21 : ’L, :
43 :Sugar Pine Lumber Co : _Pine Dale :1921-1981 : 800,000,000 _:25,000
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FRESHO COUNTY

l. What is seid to be the first sawmill on Pine Ridge wes erscted by
Jemes Hultz the sesson of 1864. The mill was located just below Corlew
Meadow in the SE} of Sec. 2, T. 10 S., R. 23 B.

This wes en up and down mill and was powered by steam. According
to the story, Hultz staked the mill in a poker game and lost. It then
passed into the hands of Alexender Ball who lost it by fire in 1857.
There is no record of the amount cut or the number of acres logged.

2. Humphrey end Mose Mock moved the mill they hed on Bear Creek, in
Heripose County, to Pine Ridge the winter of 1866-67. They were delayed
at Tellhouse becsuse the road from there to the timber was not finished.
Woodson Bros., secured & cherter to build the Tellhouse road the year of
1866 but it was not finished until 1868. The spring of 1867 the road was
completed to the saddle below Widow Waits and Humphrey & lock hauled the
mill to that point and then scross the country to the mill site which was
in the SEf of Sec. 9, T. 10 S., Re 24 E. Mrs. Shaver has a summer home at
the mill site nows The mill opersted at this locetion until the fall of
1872. The cut emounted to about 7,000,000 feet and sbout 300 secres were
logged over. This was & double-circular steam mill end could cut about R
12,000 feet per dey. Logging was done with oxen and log wegons. '

ifter the Tollhouse road was finished, it was sold to Henry Glass.
The road wes agein sold to W. J. oo and continued to be & toll road
until 1878 when it was purchesed by the County for §5,000.00,

Woodson Bros., made shekes on Pine Ridge the summer of 1866 and
brushed & trail from the top of the falls on dry oreek to the timber.
They packed & wagon to the top of the falls with pack snimals. They then
hauled the shakes to that point with oxen. The shakes were carried to
the bottom of the bluifs by Indians and reloaded on wagous and hauled to
the ml‘y.

8. The spring of 1873 Humphrey & Mock moved to Bransford Needow in the
SWE of Sece. 11, T. 10 Su, R. 24 E. They cut out at this site the fall of
1878 with a cut of sbout 6,000,000 feet and logged an area of about 300
acres. Logging was done with oxen and log wagons.

4. FHumphrey built another mill at Hoxey Meadow in the SW; of Sec. 2, T.
10 S«, R. 24 E. the season of 1874 and sold to Glass & Donehoo the fall of
1875, efter cutting out at this site. 3,000,000 feet were cut and 160
ecres were logged over. Logging was done with oxen eand log wagons.

6. The fall of 1878 Humphrey moved the mill from Branceford Meadow to
Kentuck Flat which is in the S¥% of Sec. 9, T. 10 S., R. 24 E. The mill
stood in this locetion until the fell of 1880 when the ares wes cut out.
The nmill eut 2,500,000 and loggad over an area of about 160 acres. Ox
teams did the logging.

6 nonahoo bought the mill from Humphrey that fall and moved to Taylor
Creek, where he operated two seasons, cutting about 2,500,000 feet and

loggzing over 160 eacres with oxen snd log wagons. The Taylor Creek mill
wes located in the SEf of Sec. 15, T. 10 S., R. 24 E.




7. The fall of 1882 Humphrey bought in with Donehoo and they moved the
mill to Ockenden, which is in the NE} of Sec. 2, Te 10 S., R. 24 E. The

mill stood at this locetion until the fell of 1887. During the life of
this operation about 7,500,000 feet were cut and 350 acres were logged over.
Bill Ockenden bought Donehoo's interest in 1886 and became the sole owner
of this mill the fall of 1887.

8. Humphrey & HMoeck got together szain and built e resl mill at what was
then Swenson Mesadow, in the $E} of Sec. 25, T. 9 8., R« 24 E., the spring
of 1888. This was & double~circular steam mill and wes the largest mill
built on Pine Ridge up to thet time. The ares wes cut out the fall of
1892, after making & cut of about 28,000,000 feet and logging over about

1100 acres of ground. Logging wes done with ox end horse teams end heavy
log wagons. '

9. The spring of 1893 Humphrey & Mock sold the mill to C. Ge. Davis end he
moved it to Stevenson Creek and located in the 8WL of Sec. 13, T. 9 S., R.

24 E., just below where the Edison dem now stands. The mill operated until

the summer of 1895, when it wes lost by fire. During the life of this operation
sbout 6,000,000 feet were cut end 300 scres were logged over, all of which

was sold to the flume company. Logging was done with two pole chutes and

horse and ox teams.

10. John Humphrey and John Sege built a double circular steam mill at
#inchel Meadow, which is located in the SW: of Sec. 1, T. 10 5., R. 24 E.,
the spring of 1894 and cut out the fall of 18896. 4,500,000 feet were cut
snd about 200 acres were logged over. Logging was dome with horse teams
end heavy log wagous. (Photo # 34)

11. John Humphrey end his brother built & tray mill et Brookdale the season
of 1904 end operated until the fell of 1805. The mill could do sbout 5,000
feet per day, and during the life of the operation 1,500,000 feet were cut
end 80 scres were logged over. Timber was bolted in the woods and hauled

to the mill with two end four horse teams. The mill stood in the SW of Sec.
25, To 9 S., R. 24 E.

12. Humphrey Bros., moved the mill the fall of 1906 and set up neer the
of Sec. 26, Te 9 Se, Re 24 E. The mill stood at this setting until
the fall of 1910 when the area was cut ocut. During the life of this
operation 5,000,000 feet were cut and 200 sores were logged over. Timber
wes bolted in the woods and heuled to the mill with horse teams snd wagons.

13, Humphrey Bros. moved the season of 1911 and set the mill up in the
SE: of Sec. 35, T. 9 S., R. 23 E. and made trays until the fall of 1912.
1,500,000 feet were cut snd about 150 scres were logged over. Timber was
bolted in the woods snd heuled to the mill with wegons and teams. (See
sew mill § B84).

14, During the flood of 1862, large numbers of trees and logs came down the
San Joaguin River snd lodged on Gemberetta Flat below the town of Milderton.
It is said a man named Blackie Fhillips built an up end down sew miil below
the drift and used an under shot water wheel to develop power snd cut the
logs into lumber. There is no record of the amount cut.




16. A men named Mann packed an up &nd down mill to Mill Flat with pack
animels the season of 1865 end set up in the N of Sec. 31, T. 6 S., R.
26 E. Lumber was cut for the miners that were operating in the ares at
that time. There is no record of the amount of lumber cut or the area
loggeda

16. Davis & Clerk built an up end down mill powered with steam in the WW}
of Secs 14, T. 10 S., R. 24 E., the season of 1874 but they did not succeed.
The mill was called the Flint Lock and was teken over by a man named Horgan.
It is said the mill cut about 800,000 feet and only logged sbout 40 acres.
This was the mill Phillips had near Millerton.

11'. Gus Bearing built e mill in the SW; of Sec. 13, T. 10 S., R. 24 B., the
spring of 1880 and cut out the fall of 1881. This was a double circuler
steam operated mill and eould cut 20,000 feet per day. During the life of
the operation 3,500,000 fect were cut and 160 acres were logged over.

Horse tesms and log wagons were used in logging, end it is seid this was

the first operation on Pine Ridge to get away from oxen in getting logs

. out of the woods. (Photo # 38).

18, HMoze Moek built a double circular steam driven mill on Rush Creek in
the S¥% of Sec. 19, T+ 10 S., R. 25 E., the sesson of 1881, and sold to
John Smythe end Jemes licCardle in 18865. HeCardle & Smythe built the road
from Window Waits to the mill that seme year. This wes a very good mill
and was later taken over by Hermen Peterson and & men neamed Roul. The mill
was operated until the fall of 1912 when the area was cut out. Luuber
was hauled by team to Fresno and sold te the trade there. During the life
of the operstion the mill eut about 60,000,000 feet and logged over about
2000 acres. Logging was done with oxen at first, but later a reilroad was
built to the woods. Logs were hauled to the railroad over two-pole chutes
by horse teem. Small donkeys put the logs into the chutes.

19. Lane & Bolling built & circular steam driven mill at Pine Ridge the
season of 1882, on the exact locstion thet Humphrey & Mock had their mill
from 1867 to 1872. This mill cut about 10,000 feet per day, and closed
down the season of 1884. During the two weasons the mill operated, about
3,000,000 feet were cut and ares logged over about 200 eacres. Oxen and
heevy log wagons were used in bringing logs to the mill.

20. A man named Fraiser built e double circular steam driven mill in about
the center of Sec. 23, T. 10 S., R. 24 E., the spring of 1883 and operated
until the fall of 1885 when he moved to the red woods sabove Porterville in
Tulere County. During the period the mill operated on Pine Ridge, about
9,000,000 feet were cut and sbout 450 acres were logged over. Logging wes
done with ox teams snd log wagons.

21. ¥r. Bretz, the father of Bretz Pros., lumber operation, came to Pine
Ridge in 1880 and got hold of the SE} of Sec. 1, T. 10 S., R. 24 E. Bretsz
mede shekes & couple of years and then built e shingle mill powered by
steam. This mill wes operated for 20 years and cut about 2,000,000 feet of
timber. Logs were bolted in the woods and hauled to the mill with teams
and wagons. Only the best trees were teken out and most of the 160 nere
claim was logged over.



22. Bretz Bros. built & steam driven double circular mill at Shaver in the
SW% of Sec. 35, T. 9 S., R. 24 E., the season of 1904 and cut out the fall
of 1908. This mill could cut 10,000 feet per dey and during the period of
its operation 4,500,000 feet were cut, most of the timber coming off land
thet had been logged before. Logging was done with horse teams and log
wagons. 200 acres were logged overs

23. Bretz Bros. then moved the mill back to the home cleim in the SEF of
Sece l’ Ts 105-, Re Mg".ndmd m“'milm‘mn!mmth.
season of 1928. The cut emounted to sbout 21,000,000 feet end they logged
over an area of about 700 secres. Logging wes first done with horse teams
and later they made use of tractors and gas trucks. A lot of this land
hed been out over by their father in making shakes and shingles.

24. Bretz Bros. then moved to their present site the fall of 1928, which

is about 700 feet east of the 1/4 cormer in Sec. 7, T. 10 5., R. 25 E.

Logging is done with trucks end tractors. The nill is & double circular

stesm driven afiair and can do about 30,000 per day. During the 12 yesars

the mill has been in this locetion, it has menufactured about 15,600,000

feet and hes logged off ebout 780 scres, some of which was logged by the Bennett
mill in the 80's. The mill burned the feliof 1936 end was rebuilt the follow-
ing spring. The fire spread from the mill end burned about 500 acres of

young timber before it was brought under control.

25. Bennett built & mill the season of 1883 a mile end a half up stream on
Rush Creek from the mill built by Mose Hoek in 1881. The mill was a double
cireular stesm driven affeir. The location was just east of the 1/4 corner
of Sec. 18, T+ 10 S., Re 26 E. There were several sccidents at this mill
end three men were killed in one season. One man fell into the saws at the
mill, another was killed in the woods, end Bennett's brother was killed
when & boiler blew up at the mill. About 9,000,000 feet were cut and 450
scres were logged over. Logging wes done with ox end horse teams over two-
pole chutes. The mill closed down the summer of 1686.

26. The season of 1898 Benrett built & second mill at Corlew Nesdow and
sold to Hobbs & Eoyt in 1900. The mill was again sold to Bill MeKenzie
the fall of 1900 and the aree wes cut out the fell of 1802. This mill was
‘loeated in the SWi of Sec. 2, T« 10 S., R. 23 E., and was a very good
double circuler steam driven mill. It cut about 30,000 feet per day during
the four yeers of its operation. 18,000,000 feet were cut and area logged
about 900 scres. Logging was done with horse and mule teems end after
MoKenzie took it over, he did a little donkey logging.

27. Bennett moved the mill from Rush Creek to Stevenson lisadow the season
of 1888, John Sage was the mill wright. It was located in the SW} of
Secs 19, Te 9 S., Re 25 E., end closed down the fall of 1900. Logging was
done with horse snd ox teams and about 7,000,000 feet were cut and about
300 seres were logged over.

28. The mill was then moved to Winchel Meadow and set up as & shingle &
tray mill, John Sage taking it over. The mill stood in the Siiy of See. 1
?, 10 S., R. 24 E. The operation closed the fall of 1902 with a ecut of
300,000 feet and area logged 40 acres. Log ing was done with a four yoke
ox team and large log wagons. (Fhoto # 35?.



29. Bennett built enother double circular steam driven mill in the NE}
of Sec. 10’ T. 10 s.’ R. 26 B., the swason of 1906. In order to m the
mill to its loeation and the lumber heuled out, he had to build about five
miles of roed thru a rather rough country.

The road construction took so much time and money, he did not get
the mill built until late in the season, only about 200,000 feet were cut
that year and none of it was hauled to market. Beunett could not raise
the money to operate the next seesson and Petrey took things over the spring
of 1907 and cut the area out. The lumber was sold to the flume company
and the mill closed down the season of 1912, with a cut of about 7,000,000
feet and 300 were : over. The work was done with horse and mule
teams over chutes. (Photo i 59).

30. The first box mill was built by Millard Ewing and & mean named Bouten
the season of 18885 in the center of Secs. 1, Te 10 8., Re 24 B., and it
operated until the summer of 1889 when it wes lost by fire. About 2,000,000
feet was cut, end sbout 100 acres were logged over. Only the best trees
were felled and the timber was bolted in the woods. It was hauled to the
mill on wagons with horse tesms. Power wes secured by the use of steam.

31. The fsll afid winter of 1887 Bill Ockenden moved his mill to the SW3
of Sees 3, T 10 S., R. 24 E. He operated the summers of 1888 and 1889
when he failed. The cut amounted to 4,000,000 feet and 160 ecres were
logged over. The mill was & double eircular steam driven affair and
logging was done with oxen and log wagons.

32. Charley Cummings took the Ockenden mill over and moved it about & half
mile further back in the timber setting it up in the NEF of Sec. 3, T.

10 8+, R. 24 E. the fall and winter of 1889. He operated four seasons,
closing down the fall of 18938. Cummings wes & redwood operator in Sante
Cruz County before going to Pine Ridge, and when he started the Pine Ridge
operation, he used the coast methods of logging. Ox teams and cross-skid
roads and when the hills were too steep for cattle to get off the skid road,
the logs were skidded to the roeds with men and jack screws.

As soon as the Fresno Flume & Irrigation Company got started, the
lumber sut wes sold to the flume company and used in the building of the
flume until that project was completed. The rest was shipped over the
flume to Clovis. About 17,000,000 feet was cut and 600 ecres were logged
OVET s

33. The Musick femily built a mill et where the Shaver Gusrd Station

now stends in 1888 and operated two years and then the plent burned. This
was & very good mill end could cut as much ss 50,000 feet per day. Logging
wes done with ox and horse teams and heavy log wagons. During the life of
the operation a cut of about 16,000,000 feet was made and about 500 acres
were logged over, all high grade timber. This was e double-circular steam~
driven mill and stood in the SBI of Sec. 35, T. 9 8., R. 24 E.

34. Alonze Littlefield built an up and down sawmill powered with an over-
shot water wheel the season of 1887 in the HEZ of Sec. 10, T. 10 S., R.

24 B. Littlefield made & specialty of making brake shoes for the lumber
wagons that pessed his place and did a good business. He had & uniquéc way



of getting logs to the mill. He would drive 2 pin in each end of the log
and fasten & frame with a tongue to the pins and hook his team up the same
as we would to & wagon and reoll the log to the mill. Littlefield operated
until the fall of 1910 when he didd. During the 23 yemrs of the operation,
he did not ocut more than 3,00,000 feet and logged over an area of about
160 scres, some of which had been logred before.

35. A man nemed Dodge hed a hand mill at Xsiser Diggings the season of

1900 and whip sawed lwsber for the miners to build cabins a&nd sluice boxes.
It is said he did no logging but moved his saw to the timber and would sew
as much of the lumber as possible by limbing and toping the tree and sawing
the lumber while the tree was standing. There is no record as to the amount
out or aree logied overs

36. The Fresno Flume & Irrigation Company built & dem aeross Stevenson
Creek at the lower end of Stevenson ideadow the season of 1890. The Company
then built the largest mill thet had been built on Pine Ridge. It was a
double-circular steam affair and could cut as much as 90,000 feet per day.
The firm then built a V flume from the mill to Clovis, getting a great

deal of the lumber for this job from small mills in the neighborhood. The
sroject was completed and the first lumber reached Clovis late in the seasnn
of 1902. The mill operasted continually until the fall of 1914. The plant
was idle for several seassons and was finslly seold to the Edison Company
end turned into a power unit. The Edison Compeny operated the mill one
season and only cut sinker logs that had gone down during the peried the
Flume Company operated. :

Logging was first done with chutes, Bull donkeys and small side-spool
yarders. Later the firm built reilroads and put in lerger donksys and dumped
the logs in the east end of the Leke, floating the logs from the dump to the
mill. During the life of the operation 450,000,000 feset were cut and about
16,000 acres were logged.

The Flume Company bought the cut of most of the smaller mills in the
area and at times they contracted for and shipped down their flume more
timber than they ocut themselves. This bdng the direet csuse of so many
mills on Pine Ridge from 1900 to about 1914. The location of this mill was
in the SBf of Sec. 13, T. 9 S., R. 24 E. (Photos # 39 to 51 incl. & # 60).

37. Bill Stevens built & double-circular steam mill on Stevenson Meadow
the spring of 1880 and cut lumber ifor the building of the Flume Company's
flume. The plant stood in the BE: of Sec. 24, T« 9 S., R. 24 E. The
operation closed the fall of 1892 with & cut of 3,000,000 feet and an
aree of 150 acres logged over. Logging was done with horse teans and log
We.S0NS«

58. John Sage set up a double-circular steam=drive mill in the SE: of .
Sece 32, To 9 Se, R« 25 E., the season of 1893 and cut out the fall of 1898,
The mill could cut 15,000 fect per deay and during the five years of the
operstion 3,000,000 feet were cut and an area logged over of about 100
acres. Logging was done with & six-horse tesm and log wagons. (Photo # 35)



39. Petera built his first mill in the MW} of See. 12, T. 10 S., R. 24 E.,
the spring of 1898. It wus a very good double eircular steam-driven

affair and could cut ebout 30,000 feet & day. Logging was done with log
wegons and horse and mule teams. The mill cut out the summer of 15086

and was moved to west of Flint Lock Creek. During the period the mill stood
at the above location about 21,000,000 feet were cut and area logged over
about 700 acres. The lumber was sold to Meadery of Fresno and hauled to
thet point over the Teollhouse road.

40. The mill was moved and set up in the NN of Sec. 14, T. 10 S., R. 24 B.,
the fall and winter of 1905 end 1906 and cut out the fall of 1908. This

was & double-ecircular steam mill and cut ebout 25,000 feet per day. Logging
wes done over chutes. Dolbeer donkéys put the logs in the chutes and horse
teams hauled them to the mill. About 9,000,000 feet were cut at this setting
end 300 acres were logged over. Lumber was sold to the Flume Company and
delivered to flume at the saddle with wegons and teems.

41. Bill Kipp set up a double-circular steam-driven mill in the SWj of

Secs 15, Ts 10 S., R. 24 E., the spring of 1898 and closed down the fall

of 1899. Logging was done with cattle and log wagons. Buring the two seasons
the mill operated, 1,000,000 feet were cut and 100 scres were logged over.

A considersble amount of this ground had been logged over before.

42. ¥r. Hoore built e steam driven cireular mill in the BN of Sec. 23,

T. 10 8., R. 24 E., the spring of 1898 and operated that season and the

next when he cut out. 2,800,000 feet were cut and 160 acres were logged over.
Logging was done with log wagons and horse and mule teamse

43. Hoore moved the spring of 1900 and set up in the HE% of Sec. 22, T. 10 8.,
R. 24 E., end opersted until early in the summer of 1902 when the mill burned.
During the life of this eoperation sbout 3,000,000 feet were cut and area logged
over about 160 eseres. Logging wes done with horse teams and log wagons.

44, MNoore built a third mill on the site of the one that burned the fall
of 1802. This was & larger mill and cut about 30,000 feet a day. The nill
cut out the fall of 1905 with a cut of about 12,000,000 feet and logged
over aree of ebout 600 acres. Logging was done with oxen, horse teams, and
log wagonse.

45. loore moved to his father's ranch and set up in the SEg of Sec. 185,

Te 10 8., R. 24 E. the winter of 19056 and operated until the fall of 1908
when the ares was cut out. About 8,400,000 feet were cut, and as a lot of
the area had been cut before, he logged over about 700 acres. Horse and
mule teams did the logging, using heavy log wagons in transporting the logs
to the mill.

46. Moore's father built an up and down mill on his rench in the SE} of
Sec. 15, T« 10 S., Rs 24 E., and powered it with an overshot water wheel
the season of 1502. The mill cut out the fall of 18906 with & cut of sbout
1,500,000 feet and about 30 eacres were logged over. Horse teams and log
wegons were used.

47. Elmer Deymon built a double circulsr steam-driven mill in the NE}

of Seec. 23, T. 10 S., R. 24 E., the season of 1900, and sold the lumber to

the Flume Company. He cut out at this location the fall of 1902 with a cut
of 2,500,000 feet and logged over an area of about 100 aecres. Logging wes

done with horse teams over chutes.




48. The winter of 1802 and 1903 Daymon built a band mill on the flume at
Mill Creek in NWi of See. 23, T. 9 5., R. 24 E. He sold his cut to the
Flune Company, and opersted until the fall of 1904 when he went broke.

The cut amounted to about 10,000,000 feet and about 500 acres were logred
over. Logging was done with donkeéys end chutes. Horses being on the chutes.

49, Daymon moved his eircular mill from its old location the sesson of
1908 end set up in the Sif of Secs 36, To 9 S., R. 24 E. and operated there

~until the fall of 1804. The cut amounted to about 2,000,000 feet and 70

acres were logged. Logging was done with horse teems snd log wagons, and
the lumber was delivered to the Flume Company yard at Shaver. The story

goes thet old Speedy Swift, a member of the Flume Company, and Deymon did
not get sleong teoo well end that Swift pronoted the last two mills with Dejymon
in order to break him, which wes the thing that happened.

50. Bill HcKenzie built a doublm:ircuh.r mill, operated with steam, on the
Cressman place the spring of 1900 end eut out the fall of 1902. He sold.
the cut to the Flume Company end delivered it at the flume where it crossed
the saddle near the Pine Ridge school house. Logzing was done over chutes
with dolbeer donkeys and horse teams. 7,500,000 feet were cut and about

400 mores were logged over. The mill stood in sbout the center of Seec.

16‘ Tn 10 En; Ho 24 EQ :

51. McKenzie built a second mill in the W@} of Sec. 21, T. 10 S., R. 24 Ei
the spring of 1901 end cut out the same year. The cut amounted to 3,000,000
feet and ebout 300 acres were logged over. This was all yell w pine and

of poor quality. Logging was done with horses and mules snd the lumber

was sold and delivered at the saddle to the Flume,

52. The spring of 1902 McKenzie moved this mill to the Sii of See. 2, Te

10 8., Re 24 E. and set up just above the main road that leads to Shaver.
The mill stayed et this location until the fall of 1903 when he cut out.
This lumber was also sold to the Flume Compeny and was delivered to the
company yard et the saddle. Logging wes done with Iolbeer donkeys and horse
teams and chutes. 7,000,000 feet were cut and 240 scres were logzed over.

63. lickonyie moved the mill he bought from Bennett to the SWi of Sec. 12,
T« 10 8., R 23 E. the winter of 1902 end 1903 and stayed there until the
fall of 1804 when he cut out. The Flume company bought the lumber and it
was delivered at the saddle. Logging wes done over chutes with dolbeer
donkeys and six horse teams. 8,000,000 feet were cut at this setting and
400 acres logged over.

64. lHcKenzie moved the mill from Cressman's and set it up near where the
Sweet mill later stood the fall of 1902 and cut out the fall of 1904.
During the life of the operation 6,000,000 feet were cut and 300 acres were
legied < over. The lumber was sold to the Flume Company end delivered to
the flume at the saddle. Horse teams and log wagons did the leogging et
this setting, which was in the Wy of Sec. 35, T. 9 S., R. 23 E.

55. lMNeKenzie operated amother mill near Rock Haven. This wes a double~
circular affair end was powered with steam. Logging wes done over two=-pole
chutes with donkeys and chute teams. The mill started in 1906 and closed
down in 1907. The cut amounted to 7,000,000 feet and 300 acres were logged
over. MNill was located in the MW of Sec. 25, T. 9 S., R. 24 E.




56. Bill McKenzie built e mill west of Shaver the spring of 1907 and operated
one year. Logging was done over chutes with a bull donkey and a small

donkey yarded to the chutes. 160 acres were logged. This was excellent
timber and 4,000,000 feet were taken out. The mill was a double-circuler
steam driven mill and was located in the NEZ of Sec. 35, T. 9 S., R. 24 E.

57. & 58, HeKenzie ed two_of his mills te Section 16, T- 9 8+, R« 26 E.
end located in the 8W end 8BEj. He got going the summer of 1905. These
mills cut all of Sec. 16, end sbout 300 aecres of timber in Sec. 15 & 17.
MeKenzie went broke the sesson of 1907 end left the country and has not been
gseen since. The Flume Compeny tock over his operations and finished cutting
the aress out in 1908. Logging was done at both of these mills with donkeys
end teams hauled the logs to the mill over two-pole chutes. 21,000,000

feet were cut and 900 acres were logged over at these two mills. Sec. 16
was owned by the government and was logged under Forest Service supervisien.
Lumber was hauled by team end delivered to the flume at the Shaver yard.

59, MeKensie's last mill wes set up in the MW of Sec. 1, T. 10 S., R. 23 E.
in 1906. This mill was opersting when lMcKenzie left the country end the

ares was completed by the Flume Compeny. The job was finished the season

of 1908. About 12,000,000 feet were cut and sbout 500 scres were logged overs.
Logging wes done with horse teams and log wagons. MeKengie had ten different
set-ups on Pine Ridge and four of them were going at one time.

80. Bill Barns built & steam-driven circular mill et Meadow Lakes the spring
of 1902, end operated at thet loestion until the fall of 1911l. The mill was
located in the N-& of Secs 2, T« 10 8., R. 23 E., near where the old Ball

mill stood from 1854 to 1857. Barns cut 14,850,000 feet and logged over

ebout 900 seres, some of which had been logged before. Logging was done with
wegons end teams.

6l. & 62. A men named Finley built & steam-driven cireculer mill & half mile
eest of the Barns mill the summer of 1910 and opersted it until it was

lost by fire the summer of 1911. Barns built & mill on the seme site the
season of 1912 and operated until the fall of 1917. The cut emounted %o
sbout 5,000,000 feet. 250 mcres were logged. The mill stood in the NEZ

of Sec. 2, Te 10 8., R. 23 E. Barns used sn old two-tube boiler which was
in & steambost which ceme to the rapids below the town of Millerton shortly
after the flood of 1862 where it got hung up and was abandoned. Logging
was done with horses and mules anc log wagons.

63. Barns bought timber on the Auberry road snd started operating & double
cireular steam-driven mill the season of 1919. He ran the mill until 1924.
He then leesed the mill to Bill Deken who operated it until the fall of
1926. Deken made boxes during the time he operated the mill. At this
set-up, logging wes done with delbeer donkey and horse tcams. About
10,000,000 feet were cut and about 600 scres were logged over. The mill
stood in the NW; of Sec. 3, Ta 10 S., R. 23 E.

L o T
SN

64. & 66. A man named Walch built a doubleecircular steam mill in the SWg of
Sec. 10, T« 10 S., R. 24 E., the season of 1902, and was operated until the
summer of 1904 when it burned. He rebuilt the spring of 1905 and operated
until the fall of 1907 when he cut the area out. Walch was continually in
financial troubles and had s reputetion of being poor pay. Logging was done
with oxen and log wagons until the last yesar when he bought and operalted a

donkey engine. 7,000,000 feet were cut end sres loz-ed wes 300 acres. (Phote 52)




66. Mr. Pane operated a tray mill in the NE} of Sec. 8, T. 10 S., R. 25 B.
the seasons of 1903 end 1904. Timber was bolted in the woods and hauled to
the mill with teams and wagons. This was a steam-driven mill. Ouly the
best splitting timber wes taken out. About 2,000,000 feet were taken out
snd sbout 160 acres were loggeds This ground was agein logged by the Flume
company several years latere.

67. Pane then built e double eircular steam mill near where Rock Haven now
stands. He started operations the spring of 1905 and cut out the fall of
1908. 10,500,000 feet were cut and about 300 acres were logged over.

Logging was done with dolbeer donkeys and teams hauled the logs to the mill
over chutes. The mill stood in about the center of Sec. 26, T« § 5., R. 24 E.

68. The Musick's built a double circular stesm mill in the KEL of Sec. 14
Te 10 Se, Re 24 E., the spring of 1506. The mill cut 20,000 feet per day
end was lost by fire the summer of 1906. During the period of the operation,
4,800,000 feet were cut and 200 acres were logpged over. Logging wes done
with log wegons and horse and mule teams.

69. After Welch cut ocut in Section 10, he built a shingle mill in the
Wiz of Seee. 11, Te 10 8., K. 24 E., and got it completed thatfll (1907).
He operated one season and sold to Den snd Forest Dake, Dake Bros. They
operated one yesur and sold to Counnor & West who went broke the season of
1910. Logs were bolted in the woods and hauled to the mill with wagons
and teams. All of this arece had been logged before. About 600,000 feet
were cut and ebout 80 aecres were logged over.

70. The spring of 1903 & fellow unamed Leman buillt a one circular saw steam-
driven mill on Stevenson Creeck in the NEZ of Sec. 33, T. 9 S., R. 26 E., aid
closed down the fall of 1804. Logging was done with horse teams and most 8f
the timber was sneked direct to the mill. Al HoNair and Jim Fisher did the

logging. The cut was a little over 1,000,000 feet and 40 acres were logged.

The story goes that Leman was quite a slicker and he hired a erooked
lawyer to look efter his interests. Il wasn't long until the lawyer had a
bill of several hwndred dollars s ainst Leman for services rendered, so he
came up to the mill to colleet. The lawyer was told that the firm had no
money but plemty of lumber and if he would stay at the mill and keep the
books, Leman would be able to get the lumber gulched out to the top of the
hill where big teams could haul it ewey end he would set aside enmough lumber
to pay the lewyer. So the deal was made and when enough lumber wes cut to
satisfy the lawyer, he decided to go out and hire & team te haul his lumber
to market. ¥When he reached the main road, there was no lumber there as
Leman had shipped it as fast es it was gulched out and got the money. The
lewyer came out on the smell end of the horne.

7l. A men named Shafer built a double eircular mill powered with steem in
the Wiy of Sec. 11, T« 10 S., R. 24 E. the spring of 1906 and sold to his
son in 1907. The mill was &gain sold to Van Vlieet who iz turn sold to
Viymiller in 1509. Wymiller cut out the season of 1910. Logging was done
with horses. About 4,000,000 feet were cut and about 200 acres were logged
over, a lot of which had been logged over in the sarly days.

72. Cunninghesm & Barris built & double-circuler steam mill at the saddle
where the {lume crossed over in the NBEL of See. 17, T. 10 5., R. 24 E. the
season of 1907 and cut out im 1508, This mill could cut about 10,000 feet
per day. Logging was done with a donkey enginer and chutes. During the life
of the operation sbout 2,000,000 feet were cut and 80 acres logged.




78, The mill was moved sbout a half mile north end set up in the 5ul of
Sece 8, To 10 S., R. 24 2. This was a better mill and could do abouk
20,000 feet & day. Lumber was hoisted to the flume over a strap irom
tremway with & donkey engine. Logging wes done with donkeys and chutes.
During the life of the operation which lasted until the fall of 1810
about 6,000,000 feet were cut and 300 meres were logged.

T74. The spring of 1911 Cunninghen & Barris moved to near the NN corner

of Sec. 18, T. 10 S., R. 24 E., and built & very good mill which could

cut about 35,000 feeit per day. Logcing was done over chutes with two
donkey enzines, one machine yarded the logs and put them in the chute, and
the other machine hauled them to the nill. The firm cut out the fall of
1917, with a eut of about 10,000,000 end logged about 500 meres.

75. The Cunningham & Barris mill was sold to the Rout Mill Co. and they _
moved it to the SWi of Sec. 5, T. 10 5., R. 24 B., the spring of 1918. Bill
Barns built the mill and was sawing in 29 days from the time they started
the move. Logcing wes done at this mill with four horse teams and blg
wheels. The operation lasted until 1922 and the cut amounted to aboub
18,000,000 feset oend sbout 900 acres were logzed. (Phote i 53)

76, The Rout Mill Co. moved the fall of 1922 and set up in the SEBY of

Secs 5, To 10 S., R. 24 E. This wae & very good double-circular steam
driven mill and has operated off and on sinee the spring of 1923. Logging
has been done with donkeys and trucks until the last few years, when the
donkeys were replaced with tractors. The mill cut out the fall of 1937
and hes been idle sinee. During the life of the operation sbout 40,000,000
Peot has been cut end an area of 1,100 ascres has been logred over, some of
which wes logged before by Bill Ockenden and Charley Cummings. The lumber
eut has been marketed thru the company's yard in Fresno.

97. Ockenden & Bixbey staried & double cireular steam mill on the San
Joaguin & Bastern Railroad the seasonwof 1911. The mill was located about
the center of 3ec. 3%, T+ 8 S., R. 26 5. The mill changed hends several
times and was finally teken over by the Kellener Lumber Co. of Fresno.

This organization operated the mill continually until the fall of 1924. The
plant wes idle the season of 1925. It started uwp and cut the area out the
season of 1926. Logging was done with large yarding donkeys end bull
donkeys hauled the logs to the mill over chutes. Lumber was shipped

direct from mill %o the trade and to their yard in Fresno over the San
Joaquin & Zastern B. Re The cut for the operation amounted to about 45,000,000
and around 1400 acres were logged. All logging was done under Forest Service
supervision.

78. Jeck Magool built a mill in the HBZ of Sec. 25, T. 10 8., R. 24 E. the
season of 1910 and eut out the fall of 1911. Magool wes & gembler and was
known as Jack the Ripper. The timber was owned by Tom Smith who was
nicknamed {old hard scrable). The mill wes a double circular steam afiair,
and the two semsons of its operation sbout 3,000,000 feet were cut and 160
acres were logged over. Logging wes done with horse teams and most of

the logs were skidded direet to the mill. Hard Serable was quite & poker
player himeelf end Magool would get him into & geme end when Hard Screble was
broke Magool would loean him money end teke I.0.U's for it. Then when he had
to make & payment for timber he would pay Smith with the I.0.U's. It is said
that nearly all of the timber was paid for in this way.




79. The season of 1911 Herman Patterson contracted the cutting of the
timber that was to be flooded at Huntington Lake. This was & double
circular steam-driven mill, snd was located in the SE% of Sec. 16, Ts 8 8.,
R. 256 E« Beceuse of wanting to get all timber out of the ares that was

to be flooded, everything wes cut and anything that was sound and learge
enough to meke a log was sent to the mill regerdless of species. Logging
wes done with donkeys end when one yerder could not reasch the logs, a
swing donkey was added. The job was finished the fall of 1812 with a cut
of 6,000,000 feet. About 1500 acres were logged over. The mill stood in
the SE} of Sec. 16, T. 8 S., R. 25 E.

The season of 1916 operations were started again and a ocut of
2,200,000 feet was made, and an area of 100 acres was logged. On this last
operation logs were brought to the Leke over chutes with donkey engines
end floated to the mill in rafts. The cut for the entire operation amounted
to 8,200,000 and 1600 acres were logged. The Edison Co. did the work the
last season. ' :

80. Desn & Nelson built a tray mill near the 1/4 corner to Sec. 12 & 14,
T« 10 8.; R. 24 B., the season of 1910 and cut out the fall of 1911. They
cut about 800,000 feet and logged over about 60 acres, some of which had
been logged before. Timber was bolted in the woods and hauled to the mill
with wagons and horse teams.

8l. Dean & Nelson then moved to the north of Markwood Meadow and set up in
the ¥Wi of Sec. 34, T- 9 S., R. 26 E., snd operated until the fall of 1919.
During the life of this operation about 2,500,000 feet were cut and about
120 acres were logged over. Timber was bolted in the woods and hauled to
the mill by wagon & tesam.

82. Bancroft end Litchfield built a trey =mill on the head of Taylor Creek
snd operated two years. The mill was built the season of 1912 and closed
the following fall. About 600,000 feet were cut and about 40 acres were
logged off. The mill stood in the FE: of Sec. 14, T. 10 S., B. 24 E. It is
said that when the last piece of timber was cut, the mill burned. It is
not knmown whether the insurance was collected or not.

83. W. H. Daken & Co., started s tray mill at Shaver Crossing on the Sen
Joaguin & Eeastern R. R. the season of 1813. The mill burned in 1915 and
was rebuilt the seme year. It closed down the fall of 1923 with a cut of
about 5,000,000 feet, with an aree logged over of about 250 ecres. Timber
was bolted in the woods and hauled to the mill with teams and wagons. The
cut was shipped to merket over the Railroad. The timber was cut under
Forest Service contract end was losged under Forest Service supervision
and the mill was located in the § of Sec. 81, T. 8 5., B. 25 E.

84. The Prescott Brick and lLumber Co. built a 50,000 double circular steam
mill on the San Joaguin & Eastern Railroad during the season of 1916 and
operated continuously until the fall of 1923. The mill stood in the lower
end of Jose Basin in the NE} of Secs 29, Te 9 S., R. 24 E. They also built
a plening mill end Lox feetory at the site and finished their produet
there. About 50,000,000 feet were msnufsctured et this setting and about
2,500 scres were logpged over. Logging wes done with donkey engines and
trucks hauled the logs to the mill. The mill burned the season of 1924. Fire
heving caught from sparks from boilers at the planing mill. This was a

bad fire and it burned most of the timber left standing on Stevenson Ht.
before it was brought under contrel. -




85. Hax Yancey operated & tray mill at the old Peterson mill on Rush Creek
the seasons of 1916 end 1917. Timber was bolted in the woods and hauled to
the mill with wagons and teams. 4,500,000 feet were cut and about 200 acres
loggeds This mill stood on the exaet site of the old Peterson Mill in the
Ly of Sec. 19' T« 30 Ses Ra 25 E.

86, The Dewn Lumber Company started a double circular steam mill in the

of Sece 2, T 9 Ses Ra 24 E., in the spring of 1917 and closed down the
fall of 1925. Logging was done with donkeys end teams hauled the logs to &
the mill over two pole chutes. The lumber was shipped to market over the
Sen Joaquin & Eestern Railroad. Sixteen million fect wes cut at this operation
and 1,000 acres were logged over. All wes under govermment contract.

87. dJohn Humphrey bought timber from & man named Welton and built a tray

mill in the MW: of Seec. 35, T. © 5., R. 23 E. in the spring of 1914. Humphrey
operated for two years end sold to a men named Sweet. Sweet turned the

place into a sewmill end operated off and ou until the fall of 1919, when

he cut the ares out. The two operations manufactured about 7,500,000 feet

of lumber and logged an area of about 500 acres. Logzing was done with log
wagons end teams and the mill was sold for junk the season of 1935. This
operation wound up the Humphrey femily as sewmill operators.

88. Harry Allen started s one saw circular steam mill on Home Creek et
Huntington Leke in the center of Seec. 16, T. 8 S., R. 25 E., the season of
1918 and operated until the fall of 1923. Logging weas done with teams
over chutes end the cut wes sold to the Edison Company and for sumner homes
around the lLake. The cut asmounted to about 5,000,000 fect and about 200
acres were logged over.

89. The spring of 1924 Allen built a 6' band mill powered with electriecity
sbout & mile end & half north in the NE: of Sec. 11, T. 8 8., Re 25 E. The
nill operated off end on during the seasons of 24, 25, 26. Logging wes

done with a ceterpillar and two wheeled dollies and at times with horse temms
and dollies. The cut amounted to about 2,000,000 feet and about 100 acres

- were logced over. The Edison Company bought most of the lumber and the

remginder went into summer homes sround the lake. The timber at both of
these mills was sold under govermment contract and was logged under Forest
Service mpprtisim. :

80+ Allen mw from the mill business for sometime and showed up agein
with e small double cireular steem mill in the HEZ of Sec. 12, T. 10 S., R.
24 E., in the spring of 1934. He operated one season and sold to Nine

‘Brothers who operated two seasons longer, closing dopn the fall of 1936.

Allen and the Nine Brothers were poorly financed and the mill only cut
sbout 1,500,000 feet. About 60 acres were logred over. All of the ground
had been logged before end pert of it had been logged twice. (Fhoto g 54)

9l. The Edison Company built a double ecircular electric mill at Ceamp 62
locating in the SWi of Sec. 18, T. 7 S., R. 27 E. in the season of 1921
and operated two seasons. The lumber was used in camp construction and
in the tunnels the Compeny was building at that time. The cut amounted
to 3,000,000 feet end sbout 100 acres were logred over. Ihic cul smomnbed
Logzing was done over chutes & with yarding donkeys & bull donkeys.




92. The Edison Company moved the mill to the Florence Lake bed the season
of 1923 end operated that sesson and the ceason of 1924. All the timber in
the lske was cut. Logging was done with high leads end yarding donkeys and
hauled to the mill with tractors and log wagons. 4,000,000 feet were cut
end sbout 1,200 aecres were logged over. The mill stood in the NB: of Sec.
12, T« 8 S., R. 27 E., and the lumber was used for construction purposes

by the Company.

93. The San J-uqnin Light & Power Company built an 8" band mill in the

SB% of Sec. 3, T 11 8., R. 27 E., the season of 1926. The mill wes powered
by steam ané only operated the one season. 1,750,000 feet was cut end about
80 meres were logged over, all of which was government timber. Logging was
done with teams and big wheels, and the lumber was used in the emmmim
of the Balch Power Froject.

94, atmunmhnntmwasm&a:sm. 1, To 10 S., R. 24 E. in the
season of 1929 by a men named Jones. He operated until the fall of 1931
end cut sbout 300,000 feet, and about 40 acres were logred. Timber weas
bolted in the woods end heuled to the mill in trucks.

96. Marshall & Thrush built a one saw circular gas driven mill in the NE}
of Sec. 7, To 11 8., R« 26 E. in the season of 1933 and operated the one
season. logring was done with horse tesms and trucks. Only bug infested
timber and wind falls were cut. The operation wes not a success and only
about 150,000 feet wos cut. The logs came off an area of ambout 200 scres.

96, The mill was moved to the Kripe place in the WWi of Sec. 27, T. 10 S.,
B. 24 E., in the summer of 1934, end the mill cut what timber was on the ranch,
the remsinder of thet summer and the winter of '"34 end '35. The areca was
logged out eerly in the summer of 1935. The cut amounted to sbout 480,000
feet and about 90 escres were logged overs

Logging was done with horse teams and dollies. Nill was powered with
f8Se

97. Marshall built & double circular steam driven mill in Jose Beasin in
the spring of 1936 and hes operated comtinuously since. The timber is owned
by Bretz Bros. and Harshall cuts on contract. Max Yancey contracts the
logging sinee the mill started. 6,160,000 feet has been cut and about

835 scres have been logged over. Legring is done with tractors snd two
wheeled dollies until last season, when logs were hsuled to the mill by
truck after being yerded snd loaded with trectors. The mill is located

in the NE% of Sec. 7, T+ 10 S., R. 24 E. The mill closed down the fall

of 1940 end was moved to Kern County California.

§8. Clyde English built & shingle mill powered with ges at Glen Meadow

in the §E; of Sec. 7, T. 10 S., R. 25 E., in the semson of 1928 and is

still operating. He cuts bug infested timber end windfalls (ell sugar pine).
During the period he has operated, 600,000 feet hus been cuts. Logging is
done by bolting the timber in the woods and hauling the bolts to the mill
with & small truck.

99, L. H. Linvell built a one saw circular ges driven mill on his rench in
the NW: of Sec. 11, Ta 10 S., R. 23 E., in the season of 1935, snd has
operated off end on since. He has a small tray mill in comnection with
the sewmill eand puts most of his lumber into boxes. 4 cut of about 265,000
feet has been made and sbout 40 acres has been logged over. Logging is dene




with & tractor and small truck. There is timber enough left on his rench
to last about two years longer. :

100. Byles & Jamison Lumber Co., moved from Maders County to the N} of Sec.
6, Te 9 B3 Re 25 Bs,; in the summer of 1934 and built an 8' band mill .
powered with electricity. This wes & first class mill and could eut

50,000 feet per day. The mill stayed st the above location until the fall

of 1935. Logging was done the first season with tractors and big wheels.

The second season, tractors and high leads were used in yarding and Hack
trucks hauled the logs to the mill. 10,000,000 feet was cut at this location.
About 600 acres were logged. : ; '

101. The mill was moved to the SWE of Sec. 5, T. 9 S., R. 25 E. in the fall
of 1935 and cut out the fall of 1937. Logging was done with eats eand high
leads and hauled to the mill with lack Trucks. 12,000,000 feet were cut at
this locaticn. About 700 acres were logzred. p o : : *

102. The firm moved the fall of 1937 to the IW} of Sec. 9, Ta 9 S., Re 25 Bay
Hesvy snows prevented the mill from sterténg early the next season and
because of the late start, only 4,000,000 feet was cut. Logging et this

mill is being done with eats and srches (the first arches to be used on

the Sierre Forest). The cut to date is & little over 11,000,000 feet. The
mill has one year more to go at this location. At these three mills about
2ll that has been cut is the pine. The mill cut cut the full of 1940 with

a cut of a little over 135,000,000 and ares logged was about 1100 acres.

103. Pine Logging Co. of Calif. moved over from Mariposa County end built -

a 6' band mill in the spring of 1537. This mill is powsred with electriecity

which is made by the use of a large diesel engine. The firm is known as

the Pine Logging Co, and the mill is located in the MW of Sec. 17, T« 10 8.,
Re. 26 E. on the south side of Glen Meadow creek.

This operation is working on BEdison timber and there is emough timber
under contract to last six years longer. Up to the present time, about
28,076,000 feet has been cut, most of which is high grade sugar pine.
Logging is done with cats and 5 ton trucks and the lumber is hauled by
truck over the Dinkey-Tollhouse rosd to the Company yard in Fresno. About
1145 scres have been logged. :

104. Herman Peterson btuilt a double circular steam~driven mill et NMerkwood
¥eedow in the SE} of Sec. 33, T» 9 8., R. 25 B., in the season of 1936 and
operated the remsinder of that year and the semson of 1937 when he went
broke. The mill was gethered from most everywhere on Pine Ridge. The cut
amcunted to about 2,000,000 feet and an area of ‘about 756 scres were logged
over. Logging wes done with cats and two wheeled dollies.

105, The ¥usick Mt. Lumber Company built a double circular electric driven
mill on the emst side of Musick Mt. in the spring of 1937 and operated that
sensons Logging was done with tractors and two wheeled dollies. The mill
cut ebout 400,000 feet and did not operate the season of 1938 & '39

becsuse of finmneial troubles. The mill is located in the NE of Sec. 12,
T. 9 3., Be 24 E., and is operating under govermment contract. 20 acres
have been logged.




106+ The season of 1834 & man named Pane built & tray mill at Corlew
deadow in the NE} of Secs 2, T. 10 S., R. 23 E., and operated the season
of 1985. The cut amounted to 300,000 feet and about 30 acres were
loggeds 8ll second growth. Tiwmber was bolted in the woods and hauled to
the mill by trucks.

107. Duncan Sros. bought a small Bell Hill from Sem Harris the season of
1937 end set it up along the Power Line of the Edison Co. in about the
center of Sec. 32, T. 9 8., R. 24 E., and operated one season. They cut
timber that had been felled to clear the power line. The operation wss not
a success and the mill was closed down. The cut did not execeed 30,000

fest end the area logged was about 10 acres. Logging 'na done rith e truck.

108. Duncen Bros. built & one saw cireular gas dri‘ﬂm aill et the junetion
of the Morgan Canyon end the Auberry rouds the season of 1938 in the NEZ
30,000 feet when their engine blew up. Logs were hougx‘c from ranehm
sround Headow lakes and from nesar lt. Rest.

109. The Bell Iill Duncan Bros. owued was sold to Frost & Sous and they
set it up on the Kirkmen Raneh during the swmmer of 1938 and have been
cutting smell amounts of lumber since. A gas engine furnishes power and
the carrisge is pushed thru the saw by hand. About 70,000 feet has been
cut from second-growth yellow pine. Logging is done with trucks. 15 acres
were logged.

110. Dave Fayne built & single circular steam driven mill in the SEL of Sec.
21 7. 10 8., R. 24 B. the winter of 1988 and 1939. The mill hes eut 175,000
feet and hes logged over about 40 acres. Legping has been dma with a
tractor and most of them were skidded direct to the mill.

111. m Yancey built a shingle and tray mill at Tollhouse during the

season of 1938 and cut about 60,000 feet. Timber wes bought from the
different owners on Pine Ridye sand bolted in the woods and hauled to Tollhouse
by truck.

112. Yancey built a sswmill st Tollhouse, in the WWj of Sec. 51, T. 10 8.,
Re 24 E« the spring of 1839 and ocut a little over 1100,000 feet. Logging
was done with & 25 ton truck and & tractor. He hauled his logs from near
the old Littlefield mill to Tollhouse over the Tollhouse road. The distance
is sbout 15 miles. All of the timber came off ground that had been logged
befores. To date about 100 acres have been logged overs

113. The seasonoof 1926 when Iiretz ILros. clesred the area now covered by
Shever lake, they set up & ##2 Americen mill in the southeast 1/4 of See.

30, T. 10 S., Re 256 E., and operated that summer snd part of the season

of 1927. The cut amounted to 1,000,000 feet, all of which was low grade
luwsbers The Fresno Flume & Irrigation Co. logged the area over about 20
years before. Logging was done with horse teams and log wagons. The lumber
was sold in Clovis and Fresnoe

114. A young fellow named lionroe set up and operated & shingle wmill on the
Je Gs Xirkmen ranch the season of 1940. The mill was powered with gas and
was located on Sec. 22, T+ 10 S., K. 24 E. 25,000 shingles were made
during the season. Only suger pine was cut. Timber was cut into bolts in
the woods end hauled to the mill by truck. A4bout 15 acres were cut over and




the produet was sold in and near Fresno.

115. The Byles~Jamison mill was moved to the NEF of Sec. 31, T. 10 S.,

Re 26 B. the fall of 1940, The firm has put in a 9' bend mill and a
modern carriage opereted with a shotgun feed. There is timber encugh ;
&% this location to last sbout 15 yesrs. All machinery except the earriage
is p wwered with eledtricity which is generated by diesel. '

116« Cs A+ Orr built & one saw circular mill powered with a gas engine on
the heésd of Italian Creek in Sec. 36. 7. © 8«5 Ra 23 Es the sesson of 1940.
To date the mill has cut 80,000 feet of lumber and hes logged over about
15 seres. Logging is done with & small tractor and truck. Lumber is sold
in end eround Fresno.

117. A4+ R. Reardon bought the old Childers mill from Zrone Bros. snd set

it up on his ranch about 75 miles west of Fresno. This is a double cireular
mill, powered with natural gas and will ecut about 15,000 feet per dey. The
mill wes completed the fall of 1540 and Reardon expects to draw logs from
the Pine Ridge sree. He will heul his logs sbout 60 miles by truck.



FRESNO COUNTY MILIS

tPeriod of:

location

R

peration:

:H

:C, G, Davis

R

:1904~1905:

& Bros

1,

24

160

000,000 :

3,000,000 :

: 1885~
24 :1889-1

24
24 :1887-

:John

-
.

Gus

tt
illard Ewing
Bill

29

3 - 10 -

:Centerl -~ 10 -

kenden

ATy e e et

[

Charle
:Musick Fami

.
-
-
-

_30
e ———
32

it

:1888~-1890: 16,000,000 :
24 :1887-1910:

24

L1

:1900

10 - 10

35 - 9 ~

.
-

:Alonza Littlefield

e

s

e st

150

10C

3,000,000 :
3,000,000 :

700
300
100

e

),000 :

-
-
-
L4
-
-
-

1890-1914:450,000,000 :15,000

-
*

24

e

1905: 21,000 :
1905-1908 9 ), 000 :

-

1,000,000 :

24 :1898-1899:

- o

24 :

i5 - 10 -
25 - 10 -

160

-
.

24 :1898-1899:

160
600
700

2,000,000
3,000,000 :

1908:

8,400,000 :

:1908~1905: 12,000,000 :

24 :1900-1902:
24

22 - 10 -

22 - 10 -

1902-]

- 24

10

l_s"

2,000,000

:1902-1904: 10,000,000

:1903-1904:

24

36 - 9 - 24

LE



-z-

Mill \ "t Location :Period of: : :Acres
No i Nill owner :Section-Town. :9pe] ) :
i _deKenzie Center 16 - 10 - 24 w_;__;_,a_ooug__ _
i - W = (Ni: 21 - 10 - 84 :1901-1903% 000,000 : S00
L —g : " W 502 2 - 10 - 24 :1902-1803; 7,000,000 : 240
Y N . i :Su 18 D ~ 23 :1902-1903: 8,000,000 : 400
s | A - 1N 38 S :1902-1904: 6,000,000 : 500
55 1 ® w Wi 25 - 9 - 24 :%m= 9,000,000 : 500
' $6 5 * " :RE: 36 -~ 9 - 24 -1907: 4,000,000 : 160
L 87 * o :S#: 16 - 9 - 25 :""m-“f%: 16,000,000 : 450
' 58 & " W :SW; 16 - 9 - 25 :1905-1908: 11,000,000 : 450
Sl | W S, :NEg 1 - 10 - 25 :1905-1908: 12,000,000 : 500
W iNilg 8 - 10 - 8 :1902-1911: 14,850,000 : __ 90C
el :ﬁ :NEE 2 - 10 - 28 :1910-1911: 1,000,000 : %
62 ; Bill Berms :MES 2 - 10 - 25 :1912-1019: 4,000,000 : 1
Vs Ele B .E-%u - 25 :1919-1926: 10,000,000 : 600
| 84 : Welch 152 10 - 10 - 24 3,50 : 180
88 1 = £ - 24 3 . 3
Ir ﬁ $ ﬁl !m 8 LB = :
| gF - F o e Cen ' : 000 :
; 68 :Wusick Femily i : :
' 69 _ :Welch : 3
70 :
n :g?m!! r R 4,000,000 :
r 72 _ :Cunningham & Barris 24 :1907-1908: 2,000,000 : 80
r - o g - 1 4 :1908-1910: 6,000 ""',ooo" : 500
o " 18 - 10 - 24 :1911-1917: 10,000,000 : 500
75__: Bout Will Co. 5 - 10 - 24 :1918-1923: 18,000,000 : 900
e e - % " 5 - 10 - 24 %LW:"@“‘“M"“‘ 000 : 1100
77 _:Ockenden & Bixbey onter 55 - 8 - $5 :1911-1986: 45,000,000 : 1400
78 :Jack Magool 25 - 10 - 24 :1910-1911: 3,000,000 : 160
79 _: Horman Peterson 16 - 8 - 25 :1911-1918: 8,200,000 : 1600
SRy Dean & Nelson 14 - 24 :1910-1911: 800,000 : 80
- S = 34 - 9 - 25 :1911-1919: 2,500,000 : 120
82 :Panoroft & Litehfield 14 - 10 - 24 :1912-1914: 600,000 : 40
85 _:W, H, Daken & Co. 31 -8 - 26 :1913-7928: 5,000,000 : 250
84 :Prescott Brick & Lumber Co, 29 -9 - 24 :1916-1923: 50,000,000 : 2500
85 :Mex Y 19 - 10 - 25::1916-1919: 4,500,000 : 200
86 _:Dawn Lumber Co. 2 -9 - 24 :1917-1925: 16,000,000 : 1000
87 :7Mr — NG 85 - 9 - 23 :1914-1919: 7,500,000 : 500
88 :Harry Allem Center 16 -8 - 25 :1918-1923: 5,000,000 : 200
6C__89 v :MEZ 11 - 8 - 25 :1924-1926: 2,000,000 : 100
e ;NiE: 11 - 10 - 24 : : 60
: 91 :Edison Co. sSWe 19 -7 - 26 s :
- e :Nig 12 - 8 - 2 : 0 : 12
93 :Sen Josquin Light & Power Co. :Skr - 11 - 27 :1925-1925: 1,780,000 : 80
94 :Jomes 23082 1 - 10 - 24 :1929-1951: 300,000 : 40
95 :Marshal & Thrush :NEg 7 - 11 - 26 :1963-1933: 150,000 : 200
AN T TR MWy 297 - 10 - 24:1934-1985: 450,000 : 90
T 97 iWarshal & Ge. iRBS 9 - 10-84  :1986-1940: 6,150,000 : B35
98 :Clyde Eagiish B 7 - 10 - 35 :1088- ;850,000 1 -
e e
99 :l. M, Linvell MW 11 - 10 -25 :1935 : 278,000 : 30
— 2100 :Byles Jamison WS 6 -9 - 25 :1954-1985: 10,000 000 800
RS L iSig 5 -9 - 25 :1935-1989: 12,000,000 : _ 700
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(4] Y *
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% : Pane 52 39
: Bros . ' 32 -9 - 24 :195% i
108 : 3 -
109 :Frost & Sons : : 15
10 :Dave Pane 25 : 35
& : shingle Mill :X : 10
11 » s ¥ - : 00
?- :Bretz Pros 2 ¥ 10 - 25 3 100
114 :Momrow Shingle Mill : 10 - 24 :1940- : 25,000 : 15
_115 :Byles - Jami B 10 - 26 :1940- o 3 -
116 : C. A. Orr B 9 -23 :1940- 3 80,000 : 15
i A, R, Reardon : est_of Fresno : $ :
: : : : : !
s : Total 3,249,981,000: 54,150

F———




#1)

Hite & Snyder Mill - 1882 - (rFhoto

Hite & Snyder Mill -~ 1882 - (Photo #2)




Logging Scene - Hite & Snyder Mill - 1882 - (Photo #3)

Pine City Mill - 1887 - (Photo #4)




Four yoke ox team - Soguel Mill - 1885 - (Photo #5)

Soquel Mill - 1885 - (Photo #6)




Lon Wright's freight team on way to Soguel = 1880 - (Fhoto {8)




Sugar Pine

%
: -

3
ke

1

1

Built 1899 - (Photo #9)




Train wreok nesr Mlami Lodge ~ 1802 « (Photo f12)




Log train near Miemi Reanger Station - 1903 - (Photo




Chute logzing scene nesr Susserdsale Publie Camp - 1910 « (Phote #1B)

Bull dopkey & lending ¥aders Sugar Pine Co. - 1808 - (Photo #18)




Fire neer Summerdale Public Camp

1911 -~ (Photo 18)

Log chute near Summerdale Publie

Camp - 1910 - (Photo #17)




|

—

B -~ 1912 (Photo #19)

First sky logging show in Californie laders Sugar Pine

Maders Suger Pine Logging operation on Big Creek - 1512 - (Photo #20)




¥adera Suger Pine Coe. log train near Fish Camp = 1913 - (Photo #22)




Maders Sugar Pine Mill built after the 1921 fire - 1922 - (Photo #23)

General view of Sugar Pine ¥ill & flume - 1922 - (Photo -}’;-24)
Hote bundles of lumber floating down flume.




Medera Sugar Pine Co. log train near Summitt Camp - 1929 - (Photo #26)




Peckinpeh Mill - 1888 = (Photo #27)

Side spool donkey near Peckinpeh Mill - 1908 -~ (FPhoto #28)




9 - Hoist = Sugar Pine Lumber Co. = 1927 - {Photo #29)

1924 burn = Cemp Whiskers - Suger Pine Lumber Co. - 1927 = (Photo #30)




Hin Duncan's portable
mill = 1935 ~ (Photo #81)

Joe Willlians® portable
mill - 1936
( FPhoto ?}52 )

Log truck used at the
California mill in the

80*s ~ (Photo #33)




Log truck & team at Sage's mill -~ 1897 = (Photo #35)

(Note the dogwood binding pole)




TRAY MILL : , ' - : =
OCKENDEN, CAL.
—

Ewing & Bouten tray mill nesr Ockenden - 1888 - (Photo #37)




Fresno Flume & Irrigation Co. mill - Shaver 1890-1915 = (Photo #39)




Dolbeer

dorkey near Shaver = 1898 = (FPhoto #41)




Chute logging with endless line near Shaver - 1898 - (Photo #42)

Boom of logs Shever Leke = 1898 - (Photo §43)




Cross hasul

log loeding near Shever - 1912 - (Photo #45)




Log dump Shever Lake - 1910 - (Photo #47)




Lumber herder on Pine Ridge flume - 1909 - (Photo #48)

Lumber jam on Pine Ridge flume -« 1905 -~ (Photo #49)




Pine Ridge {lume meross Musick Creek - (Photo gso)

Log train near Shaver = 1910 - (Photo #51)




Wheel logging at Routt Mill, Jose Basin - 1920 - (Photo #53)




Mill -~ 1934 - (Photo #64)

Two wheeled dolly.

Marshell's Mill Jose Besin - 1936 - (Photo #55)




Transporting lumber to an Edison Power Froject

- 1934 - (Photo #57)




Virgin {orest nesr

Eilis Yeadow (Fhoto £68)




Fresno Flume & Irrigetion Co. mill & yeard - 1886 = {(Fhoto §60)
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